PARLIAMENT OF KENYA

THE NATIONAL ASSEMBLY

THE HANSARD

Wednesday, 9th June 2021

The House met at 9.30 a.m.

[The Deputy Speaker (Hon. Moses Cheboi) in the Chair]

PRAYERS

QUORUM

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Hon. Members, clearly, we are short of the requisite quorum. I, therefore, order the bell to be rung for 10 minutes.

(The Quorum Bell was rung)

Hon. Members, 10 minutes are over. We are just short of four Members. So, the Whips can have an extra five minutes. I actually see one Member coming. So, three more Members because we have confirmed that there are 12 Members in the other holding area. So, three more Members and then we will be starting our business.

We have the required quorum now. Business will start.

PAPERS LAID

Hon. Deputy Speaker: On that particular Order, we have the Leader of the Majority Party.

Hon. Amos Kimunya (Kipipiri, JP): Hon. Deputy Speaker, I beg to lay the following Papers on the Table of the House today:

Annual Report of the Capital Market Authority for the Financial Year 2019/2020;

Annual Corporate Report of the Office of the Auditor-General for the Financial Year 2019/2020;

Report of the Auditor-General for the National Government for the Financial Year 2019/2020;

The Reports of the Auditor-General and Financial Statements in respect of the following institutions for the year ended 30th June 2020 and the certificates therein:

The Presidency;

The State Department for Planning;

The Independent Electoral and Boundaries Commission;

The State Department for Information, Communication, Technology and Innovation;

The State Department for Sports;

Equalization Fund;

Revenue Statements for the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning;

The State Department for Industrialization;

The African Union and other International Organizations Subscription Fund;

Kipchabo Tea Factory;

State Officers and Public Officers Motor Car Loans Scheme Fund;

Ministry of Water and Sanitation;

State Department of Tourism;

The State Department for Shipping and Maritime;

National Government Constituencies Development Fund Central Bank of Kenya

Account:

The Parliamentary Catering Fund;

Business Registration Service - Official Receiver;

Revenue Statements (Recurrent) of the National Treasury;

The National Treasury;

Kenya Reinsurance Corporation Limited;

Office of the Controller of Budget;

State Department for Vocation and Technical Training;

Commodities Fund:

Consolidated Fund Services - Subscriptions to International Organizations;

Veterinary Services Development Fund;

State Department for Fisheries, Aquaculture and Blue Economy;

Revenue Statement for the State Law Office and the Department of Justice;

The State Department for Crop Development;

COVID-19 Emergency Response Fund;

The State Department for Interior;

State Department for Petroleum;

National Land Commission; and,

The Petroleum Training Levy Fund.

Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Very well. We will go to the next Order.

QUESTIONS AND STATEMENTS

ORDINARY QUESTIONS

Hon. Deputy Speaker: On this particular Order, we will start with the Member for Luanda, Hon. Omulele.

Question No. 181/2021

STATUS REPORT ON THE SPORTS FUND

Hon. Christopher Omulele (Luanda, ODM): Thank you, Hon. Speaker. I rise to ask Question No.181/2021 to the Cabinet Secretary (CS) for Sports, Culture and Heritage:

- (i) Could the CS provide the status of the account of the funds collected under the Sports Fund established under the Sports Act, 2013?
- (ii) Could the CS also give an account of the funds that the National Sports Fund Board has spent and, in particular, in the establishment and construction of new sports stadia and sports academies in the country?
- (iii)Could the CS explain whether the Chief Executive Officer of the National Sports Fund Board is qualified, duly gazetted and authorised to execute the mandate of the Board as stipulated in the Sports Act, 2013?

Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Very well. That Question will be replied to before the Departmental Committee on Sports, Culture and Tourism. The Member for Loima, Hon. Lomorukai, has requested that his Question be deferred.

Question No. 109/2021

FOOD SECURITY IN TURKANA COUNTY

(Question deferred)

So, I will give the opportunity to the nominated Member, Hon. Gideon Keter. He was here a few minutes ago. We will give the opportunity to the next Member. I know that he has a problem with his card which he has gone to rectify. Let us have the Member for Tharaka-Nithi, Hon. Beatrice Nyaga Nkatha.

Question No. 151/2021

PROVISION OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES IN THARAKA-NITHI COUNTY

Hon. Beatrice Nyaga (Tharaka-Nithi CWR, JP): Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker for giving me this opportunity to ask Question No.151 of 2021. It is directed to the CS for Interior and Coordination of National Government.

- (i) What urgent and long-term steps is the Ministry taking to ensure that mandatory Government services provided by authorities such as the National Transport and Safety Authority (NTSA), the Kenya Revenue Authority (KRA) and the National Council for Persons Living with Disabilities (PWD) assessment offices are brought closer and within reach of residents of Tharaka-Nithi County who travel for long distances to seek the said services as they are not available in the county?
- (ii) Could the CS give an undertaking that such services, alongside other Government services, will be made available within Tharaka-Nithi County?

Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: That Question will be replied to before the Departmental Committee on Administration and National Security. Next is the Member for Kwanza, Hon. Wanyonyi.

Hon. Ferdinand Wanyonyi (Kwanza, FORD-K): Hon. Deputy Speaker, I have just come in. Can I ask the Question later?

Hon. Deputy Speaker: What is the problem, Hon. Wanyonyi? You are a seasoned Member. Do you have the Order Paper?

Hon. Ferdinand Wanyonyi (Kwanza, FORD-K): No.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: You can be helped to have it. There is nothing to prepare in this Question. It is a straightforward one. Proceed and ask the Question. The norm now is that you put on your mask. I know how uncomfortable it is but it is more uncomfortable to be in a ventilator.

Question No. 167/2021

STATUS OF EXPANSION AND RECONSTRUCTION OF KITALE AIRSTRIP

Hon. Ferdinand Wanyonyi (Kwanza, FORD-K): My Question is directed to the CS for Transport, Infrastructure, Housing, Urban Development and Public Works:

- (i) Could the CS provide the status of the expansion and reconstruction works at Kitale Airstrip?
- (ii) Could the CS indicate when the airstrip is expected to be completed and made operational to facilitate transport for the many users from North Rift and Western Region who use that facility?

Thank you, Hon. Speaker.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: That one will be replied to before the Departmental Committee on Transport, Public Works and Housing. Next is Hon. Kingi, but I see Hon. Keter is here. So, let us go to Hon. Kingi as we try to locate where you are sitting.

Proceed, Hon. Kingi.

Question No.170/2021

INSTALLATION OF ELECTRICITY IN MAGARINI CONSTITUENCY

Hon. Michael Kingi (Magarini, ODM): Hon. Deputy Speaker, I rise to ask Question No.170/2021 to the Cabinet Secretary for Energy.

- (i) Could the Cabinet Secretary provide a list of all projects funded through the Rural Electrification Authority in Magarini Sub-County from 2017 to date?
- (ii) Are there plans to connect electricity to Galana Teachers Training College, Waresa Technical College, Kambicha Primary and other government institutions in Magarini Sub-County taking into account the many requests which have been made to the Ministry since 2018?
- (iii) What measures has the Ministry put in place to ensure that learning institutions, market centres and villages which are yet to have electricity in Magarini Constituency are connected soonest?

Hon. Deputy Speaker: That one will be replied to before the Departmental Committee on Energy. Next is the Member for North Imenti, Hon. Dawood Abdul.

Question No.174/2021

CRITERIA FOR CONDUCTING MOTOR VEHICLE INSPECTION BY NATIONAL TRANSPORT AND SAFETY AUTHORITY

Hon. Rahim Dawood (North Imenti, JP): Hon. Deputy Speaker, I rise to ask Question No.174/2021. It is directed wrongly to the Cabinet Secretary for Transport, Infrastructure, Housing, Urban Development and Public works. I will just read it then I will ask for your guidance.

- (i) Could the Cabinet Secretary explain the criteria intended to be applied by the National Transport and Safety Authority (NTSA) to conduct vehicle inspection exercises in the country following the recent circular which affected Section 16 (2) of the Traffic Act requiring all vehicles above four years to be inspected?
- (ii) Could the Cabinet provide the total number of vehicles expected to undergo inspection in the country and stipulate the measures the Ministry has put in place to ensure order during the inspection exercise?
- (iii) Could the Cabinet Secretary also explain how owners of motor vehicles will access the inspection units and provide details of the approved inspection units, their working hours, booking criterion, the number of vehicles to be inspected per day, and charges, if any?

Hon. Deputy Speaker, this Question ordinarily should be directed to the Departmental Committee on Administration and National Security because the budget of the NTSA is under the Departmental Committee on Transport, Public Works and Housing, but the operationalization is under the Ministry of Interior and Coordination of National Government. As my sister from Tharaka, Hon. Beatrice has asked, the NTSA is under the Ministry of Interior and Coordination of National Government. I want your guidance on whether the Question will go to the Departmental Committee on Transport, Public Works and Housing or to the Departmental Committee on Administration and National Security.

Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: This ordinarily, as you have put it clearly, is supposed to be the vote of the Departmental Committee on Transport, Public Works and Housing which you actually sit in. I do not know whether the Chair of the Departmental Committee on Administration and National Security is in the House. I do not see him. What is it again? I thought you have made your case and I am trying to rule on it.

Hon. Rahim Dawood (North Imenti, JP): Hon. Deputy Speaker, I am in the Departmental Committee on Transport, Public Works and Housing and we tried to tackle this matter while the NTSA was in the Committee coming for the budget, but we were told that it was not under us.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: So, it is referred to the Departmental Committee on Administration and National Security.

Now let us go to the Member for Kaiti. He has made a request that the Question be deferred and I proceed to defer that particular Question. Hon. Manje has also made a similar request which I accept.

Questions No.175/2021

COMPLETION OF SULTAN HAMUD-KASIKEU-WAUTU-KYAMBEKE-KIKOKO (D515) ROAD

(Question deferred)

Question No.176/2021

STATUS OF KENYA NATIONAL ADDRESSING SYSTEM

(Question deferred)

We are through with Questions. We go to the next segment of that Order. I almost forgot, Hon. Keter. Proceed, Hon. Keter. Sorry.

Ouestion No.129/2021

MEASURES TAKEN TO ENSURE IMPORTED MOTOR VEHICLE SPARE PARTS MEET APPROVED STANDARDS

Hon. Gideon Keter (Nominated, JP): Hon. Deputy Speaker, I rise to ask Question No.129 to the Cabinet Secretary for Industry, Trade and Cooperatives.

- (i) Could the Cabinet Secretary explain the measures that have been taken by the Kenya Bureau of Standards (KEBS) to ensure that used motor vehicle parts such as vehicle air bags, steering assembles, braking systems and other parts imported into the country for re-use as spare parts are of sound quality and approved standards?
- (ii) Could the Cabinet Secretary explain why KEBS is allowing high-end vehicles such as Toyota Land-Cruiser V8 Models imported from the United Arab Emirates (UAE) to be inspected locally whereas there is a KEBS-appointed inspection agent for motor vehicles in Dubai?
- (iii) What steps is the Cabinet Secretary taking to ensure that the Market Surveillance Division (MSD) at KEBS has the capability of carrying out its mandate of vetting and approving products to ensure that they meet the set Kenyan standards and specifications?
- (iv) Could the Cabinet Secretary provide details of the local or locally owned inspection agents that have been contracted by KEBS under the Pre-export Verification of Conformity (PVoC) programme which have been in operation since September 2005 and explain how they are regulated?

Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: That one will be replied to before the Departmental Committee on Transport, Public Works and Housing.

So, we go to the next segment of that particular Order which is request for Statements and response to Statements. We will start with request for Statement and I start with the Member for Turkana East, the Hon. Lokiru Mohamed Ali.

REQUEST FOR STATEMENT

RESURGENCE OF CATTLE RAIDS AND KILLINGS IN TURKANA EAST

Hon. Lokiru Ali (Turkana East, ODM) Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker. I rise to request for a Statement on the resurgence of cattle raids and killings in Turkana East.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, pursuant to Standing Order No.44(2)(c), I seek to request for a Statement from the Chairperson of the Departmental Committee on Administration and National Security regarding the resurgence of raids and killings in Kapedo area in Turkana East Constituency.

Since the security operation was stopped at Kapedo area, there has been a resurgence of raids and killings of innocent civilians by armed bandits from Tiaty, Baringo County and Sigor, in West Pokot County. Several incidents have been reported and nothing has been done by the authorities.

Just to mention a few, on 12th March 2021, a raid took place at Riet Village where three people were killed namely, Ekatapan Loyolel, Lowoi Loyolel and Etelek Loyolel. In the said incident, 3,000 sheep, 127 cows and 57 camels were taken. On 30th April 2021, a raid at Ngilukia was reported and two people namely, Ekale Kakinor and Eturen Lochamy were killed while Umana Lokwawi was injured. On 4th May 2021, one person again was injured while 340 goats were stolen at Lokori, 100 meters from Lokori GSU Camp. On 15th May 2021, one Ekalale Lopusngóle was killed while over 2,400 goats and 70 cows were taken at Riet area.

On 3rd June 2021 again, a raid happened at Lomelo and two people namely, Lomoit Long'or and Long'or Ebunu were killed, while three others were seriously injured.

On 7th June 2021, a raid was conducted at Lopii where two children were kidnapped but later rescued, 127 camels, 4,000 goats and 60 head of cattle were taken. All the security vehicles in Turkana East, an armored personnel carrier, were destroyed by the bandits. The bandits also caused injury to one of the police officers. There have been no efforts so far made to apprehend the bandits and recover the stolen livestock. This has become a normal business.

(Hon. Lokiru Ali's phone vibrated)

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Just a minute, Hon. Ali. I think it is your phone which is probably ringing. You need to switch it off so that it does not distort your thought. The fact that we can hear it through the microphone means that it is yours. You can then proceed. Give him the microphone.

Hon. Lokiru Ali (Turkana East, ODM): Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker. There have been no efforts so far made to apprehend the bandits and recover the stolen livestock. This has become a normal business. It is against this background that I seek a Statement from the Chairperson of the Departmental Committee on Administration and National Security focusing on the following:

- (i) What measures is the Government taking to address the resurgence of raids and conflict among communities in Baringo East, West Pokot and Turkana East?
- (ii) Could the Chairperson also explain the measures the Government has put in place to stop further raids?
- (iii) What efforts are in place to recover the stolen animals and arrest the perpetrators of such raids?
- (iv) What urgent steps are in place to assist communities in those areas to manage and utilize the available resources and address the conflicts arising from the bandits?

Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Very well. Let us get the Chairperson or his Vice-Chair to tell us how much time they will require to respond to that particular Statement request. Both of them are

absent. Leader of Majority Party, we expect that it should take two weeks. It will be responded to within two weeks.

Let us go to responses to Statement requests. The first one is by Hon. Tom Mboya, Member for Nyatike Constituency. The Chairperson being absent, it means he is also not available to answer this one. So, we shift it to the Afternoon Sitting.

The next one is also by the same Chairperson, who is to respond to Hon. Col. (Rtd.) Geoffrey King'ang'i. That one also should be responded to in the afternoon.

The Leader of the Majority Party, we request that you ask the specific Chairperson to be available to respond to those Statements in the Afternoon Sitting of today.

Let us go to the next Order.

BILLS

First Readings

THE HIGHER EDUCATION LOANS BOARD (AMENDMENT) BILL

THE EXCISE DUTY (AMENDMENT) BILL

THE KENYA DEPOSIT INSURANCE (AMENDMENT) BILL

THE NATIONAL CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY (AMENDMENT) BILL

THE PUBLIC PROCUREMENT AND ASSET DISPOSAL (AMENDMENT) (No.3) BILL

THE PHARMACY AND POISONS (AMENDMENT) BILL

THE COMPUTER MISUSE AND CYBERCRIMES (AMENDMENT) BILL

THE HEALTH (AMENDMENT) BILL

(Orders for First Readings read - Read the First Time and ordered to be referred to the relevant Departmental Committees)

MOTION

CONSIDERATION OF BUDGET ESTIMATES FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2021/2022

Hon. Deputy Speaker: On this part, the Chairperson of the Budget and Appropriations Committee will be taking the Floor. On the particular request you have made, I would request that you come to a place where you are very sure that... Is it a no man's zone? I think you will still be comfortable there since you are farthest from everybody. Unfortunately, you are coming closer to me, which is not okay. However, since this is a very critical issue, we will have to deal with it.

Proceed, Hon. Chairperson.

Hon. Kanini Kega (Kieni, JP): Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker, for your indulgence. I have already got my second jab. So, I am still a bit safe.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, I beg to move the following Motion:

- THAT, this House adopts the Report of the Budget and Appropriations Committee on the Budget Estimates for the National Government, the Judiciary and Parliament for the Financial Year 2021/2022, laid on the Table of the House on Tuesday, 8th June 2021 and pursuant to the provisions of Article 221 of the Constitution, Section 39 of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 and Standing Order No.239 –
- (a)approves the issuance of a sum of Kshs1,945,671,474,883 from the Consolidated Fund to meet the expenditure during the year ending 30th June 2022 in respect of the Votes contained in the First Schedule to the Order Paper, subject to paragraph (c) (Committee of Supply);
- (b) makes the Policy and Financial Resolutions contained in the Second Schedule to the Order Paper; and,
- (d) orders that "The Speaker do now leave the Chair" to facilitate the consideration of the said Budget Estimates with respect to each Vote and Programme in the Committee of Supply as contemplated under Standing Order No.240 (Consideration of Estimates in the Committee of Supply).

FIRST SCHEDULE ANNUAL ESTIMATES FOR FY 2021/2022 (IN KSHS)

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22		
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
1011	Executive Office of the President	25,230,350,000	9,625,719,443	34,856,069,443	25,267,713,596	9,327,249,383	34,594,962,979
	0702000 Cabinet Affairs	1,289,294,226	245,100,000	1,534,394,226	1,301,748,758	245,100,000	1,546,848,758
	0703000 Government Advisory Services	617,557,028	71,109,443	688,666,471	617,557,028	71,109,443	688,666,471
	0704000 State House Affairs	3,895,931,453	71,880,000	3,967,811,453	3,908,385,985	73,409,940	3,981,795,925
	0734000 Deputy President Services	1,388,140,000	17,630,000	1,405,770,000	1,400,594,532	17,630,000	1,418,224,532
	0745000 Nairobi Metropolitan Services	18,039,427,293	9,220,000,000	27,259,427,293	18,039,427,293	8,920,000,000	26,959,427,293

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMI	ENDED BUDGE 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
1021	State Department for Interior and Citizen Services	131,481,651,82 4	7,380,902,615	138,862,554,43 9	130,856,049,10 6	7,693,055,015	138,549,104,121
	0601000 Policing Services	98,752,945,708	1,649,000,000	100,401,945,70	98,902,945,708	1,689,000,000	100,591,945,708
	0603000 Government Printing Services	694,265,604	50,000,000	744,265,604	694,265,604	50,000,000	744,265,604
	0605000 Migration & Citizen Services Management	2,019,075,662	740,000,000	2,759,075,662	2,037,089,656	852,152,400	2,889,242,056
	0625000 Road Safety	2,254,400,000	1,020,865,215	3,275,265,215	2,204,400,000	520,865,215	2,725,265,215
	06256000 Population Management Services	3,817,719,070	1,025,500,000	4,843,219,070	3,817,719,070	1,025,500,000	4,843,219,070
	629000 General Administration and Support Services	23,030,645,780	2,845,537,400	25,876,183,180	22,237,029,068	3,455,537,400	25,692,566,468
	063000 Policy Coordination Services	912,600,000	50,000,000	962,600,000	962,600,000	100,000,000	1,062,600,000
1023	State Department for Correctional Services	28,748,460,000	1,050,200,000	29,798,660,000	28,749,156,901	909,068,467	29,658,225,368
	0623000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	353,786,984	-	353,786,984	354,483,885	8,868,467	363,352,352
	0627000 Prison Services	26,529,120,000	843,200,000	27,372,320,000	26,529,120,000	693,200,000	27,222,320,000
	0628000 Probation & After Care Services	1,865,553,016	207,000,000	2,072,553,016	1,865,553,016	207,000,000	2,072,553,016

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGE 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
1032	State Department for Devolution	1,484,200,000	1,459,688,414	2,943,888,414	3,372,162,706	2,059,688,414	5,431,851,120
	0712000 Devolution Services	1,098,239,634	1,354,688,414	2,452,928,048	1,303,239,634	1,354,688,414	2,657,928,048
	0732000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	352,744,772	-	352,744,772	417,407,478	-	417,407,478
	0713000 Special Initiatives	33,215,594	105,000,000	138,215,594	1,651,515,594	705,000,000	2,356,515,594
1035	State Department for Development of the ASAL	1,059,480,000	9,080,065,116	10,139,545,116	1,061,151,347	9,080,065,116	10,141,216,463
	0733000 Accelerated ASAL Development	1,059,480,000	9,080,065,116	10,139,545,116	1,061,151,347	9,080,065,116	10,141,216,463
1041	Ministry of Defence	114,762,924,37 6	5,080,000,000	119,842,924,37 6	114,771,705,98 7	5,080,000,000	119,851,705,987
	0801000 Defence	112,386,498,17 6	5,080,000,000	117,466,498,17	111,886,498,17	5,080,000,000	116,966,498,176
	0802000 Civil Aid	200,000,000	-	200,000,000	700,000,000	-	700,000,000
	0803000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	1,976,426,200	-	1,976,426,200	1,985,207,811	-	1,985,207,811
	0805000000 National Space Management	200,000,000	-	200,000,000	200,000,000	-	200,000,000
1052	Ministry of Foreign Affairs	17,010,617,729	1,789,640,000	18,800,257,729	17,023,874,380	1,796,122,798	18,819,997,178
	0714000 General Administration	2,043,086,989	170,000,000	2,213,086,989	2,056,343,640	176,482,798	2,232,826,438

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGET 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
	Planning and Support Services						
	0715000 Foreign Relation and Diplomacy	14,775,292,180	1,499,640,000	16,274,932,180	14,775,292,180	1,499,640,000	16,274,932,180
	0741000 Economic and Commercial Diplomacy	51,823,239	-	51,823,239	51,823,239	-	51,823,239
	0742000 Foreign Policy Research, Capacity Development and Technical Cooperation	140,415,321	120,000,000	260,415,321	140,415,321	120,000,000	260,415,321
1064	State Department for Vocational and Technical Training	18,827,000,000	4,458,436,000	23,285,436,000	18,677,469,071	4,658,436,000	23,335,905,071
	0505000 Technical Vocational Education and Training	18,646,236,268	4,448,436,000	23,094,672,268	18,496,236,268	4,648,436,000	23,144,672,268
	0507000 Youth Training and Development	38,666,389	10,000,000	48,666,389	38,666,389	10,000,000	48,666,389
	0508000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	142,097,343	-	142,097,343	142,566,414	-	142,566,414
1065	State Department for University Education	95,408,000,000	4,575,600,000	99,983,600,000	91,012,215,304	4,565,600,000	95,577,815,304
	0504000 University Education	94,268,249,632	4,535,600,000	98,803,849,632	89,868,249,632	4,525,600,000	94,393,849,632
	0506000 Research, Science,	900,995,156	40,000,000	940,995,156	900,995,156	40,000,000	940,995,156

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGET 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
	Technology and Innovation						
	0508000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	238,755,212	-	238,755,212	242,970,516	-	242,970,516
1066	State Department for Early Learning & Basic Education	92,149,000,000	11,811,600,00	103,960,600,00	91,448,708,240	10,966,600,00	102,415,308,240
	0501000 Primary Education	16,911,153,177	2,341,200,000	19,252,353,177	16,736,153,177	2,161,200,000	18,897,353,177
	0502000 Secondary Education	66,359,444,764	9,245,400,000	75,604,844,764	66,389,444,764	8,080,400,000	74,469,844,764
	0503000 Quality Assurance and Standards	4,151,012,495	150,000,000	4,301,012,495	3,701,012,495	650,000,000	4,351,012,495
	0508000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	4,727,389,564	75,000,000	4,802,389,564	4,622,097,804	75,000,000	4,697,097,804
1068	State Department for Post Training and Skills Development	268,000,000	-	268,000,000	268,000,000	-	268,000,000
	0508000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	135,961,333	-	135,961,333	135,961,333	-	135,961,333
	0512000 Work Place Readiness Services	85,017,951	-	85,017,951	85,017,951	-	85,017,951
	0513000 Post Training	47,020,716	-	47,020,716	47,020,716	-	47,020,716

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22			
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	
	Information Management							
1071	The National Treasury	64,536,716,504	103,307,444,5 22	167,844,161,02 6	52,409,488,083	102,755,945,8 86	155,165,433,969	
	0203000 Rail Transport	-	32,494,000,00	32,494,000,000	-	34,794,000,00	34,794,000,000	
	0204000 Marine Transport	-	20,214,000,00	20,214,000,000	-	23,314,000,00	23,314,000,000	
	0717000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	52,812,880,548	13,524,527,00	66,337,407,548	43,135,652,127	13,524,527,00	56,660,179,127	
	0718000 Public Financial Management	10,187,065,408	36,616,102,52 2	46,803,167,930	7,737,065,408	30,664,603,88	38,401,669,294	
	0719000 Economic and Financial Policy Formulation and Management	1,159,910,995	428,815,000	1,588,725,995	1,159,910,995	428,815,000	1,588,725,995	
	0720000 Market Competition	302,100,000	30,000,000	332,100,000	302,100,000	30,000,000	332,100,000	
	0740000 Government Clearing services	74,759,553	-	74,759,553	74,759,553	-	74,759,553	
1072	State Department for Planning	3,478,150,000	42,324,156,21 6	45,802,306,216	4,312,765,950	46,098,656,21 6	50,411,422,166	
	0706000 Economic Policy and National Planning	1,687,561,110	42,032,543,21 6	43,720,104,326	2,355,781,110	45,331,543,21 6	47,687,324,326	
	0707000 National Statistical Information Services	1,317,620,000	209,355,000	1,526,975,000	1,317,620,000	609,355,000	1,926,975,000	

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGE 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
	0708000 Public Investment Management Monitoring and Evaluation Services	171,954,648	82,258,000	254,212,648	184,954,648	157,758,000	342,712,648
	0709000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	301,014,242	-	301,014,242	454,410,192	-	454,410,192
1081	Ministry of Health	65,059,500,000	56,029,522,12 7	121,089,022,12	64,870,742,503	56,259,522,12 7	121,130,264,630
	0401000 Preventive, Promotive & Reproductive Health	3,020,736,859	22,498,282,51	25,519,019,373	3,020,736,859	22,498,282,51	25,519,019,373
	0402000 National Referral & Specialized Services	36,103,560,722	11,655,242,62	47,758,803,345	36,103,560,722	11,595,242,62	47,698,803,345
	0403000 Health Research and Development	9,625,500,000	587,500,000	10,213,000,000	9,665,500,000	827,500,000	10,493,000,000
	0404000 General Administration, Planning & Support Services	5,866,981,821	1,060,000,000	6,926,981,821	5,938,224,324	1,060,000,000	6,998,224,324
	0405000 Health Policy, Standards and Regulations	10,442,720,598	20,228,496,99	30,671,217,588	10,142,720,598	20,278,496,99	30,421,217,588
1091	State Department of Infrastructure	57,169,918,367	135,370,687,9 87	192,540,606,35 4	57,169,918,367	135,975,687,9 87	193,145,606,354
	0202000 Road Transport	57,169,918,367	135,370,687,9 87	192,540,606,35 4	57,169,918,367	135,975,687,9 87	193,145,606,354

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED B	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22			
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	
1092	State Department of Transport	9,428,000,000	1,346,300,000	10,774,300,000	9,428,200,336	1,346,300,000	10,774,500,336	
	0201000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	271,568,231	70,000,000	341,568,231	271,768,567	70,000,000	341,768,567	
	0204000 Marine Transport	801,705,287	327,000,000	1,128,705,287	801,705,287	327,000,000	1,128,705,287	
	0205000 Air Transport	8,342,347,789	603,000,000	8,945,347,789	8,342,347,789	603,000,000	8,945,347,789	
	0216000 Road Safety	12,378,693	346,300,000	358,678,693	12,378,693	346,300,000	358,678,693	
1093	State Department for Shipping and Maritime	2,036,000,000	750,200,000	2,786,200,000	2,037,305,572	750,200,000	2,787,505,572	
	0220000 Shipping and Maritime Affairs	2,036,000,000	750,200,000	2,786,200,000	2,037,305,572	750,200,000	2,787,505,572	
1094	State Department for Housing and Urban Development	1,233,000,000	11,034,600,00	12,267,600,000	1,233,607,313	14,054,600,00	15,288,207,313	
	0102000 Housing Development and Human Settlement	632,561,525	8,178,000,000	8,810,561,525	632,561,525	8,178,000,000	8,810,561,525	
	0105000 Urban and Metropolitan Development	223,947,762	2,856,600,000	3,080,547,762	223,947,762	5,876,600,000	6,100,547,762	
	0106000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	376,490,713	-	376,490,713	377,098,026	-	377,098,026	
1095	State for Public Works	3,111,000,000	1,127,800,000	4,238,800,000	3,111,710,821	1,127,800,000	4,239,510,821	

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGET 2021/22	T ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
	0103000 Government Buildings	515,958,500	598,309,300	1,114,267,800	515,958,500	598,309,300	1,114,267,800
	0104000 Coastline Infrastructure and Pedestrian Access	159,522,728	158,490,700	318,013,428	159,522,728	158,490,700	318,013,428
	0106000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	308,266,342	14,000,000	322,266,342	308,977,163	14,000,000	322,977,163
	0218000 Regulation and Development of the Construction Industry	2,127,252,430	357,000,000	2,484,252,430	2,127,252,430	357,000,000	2,484,252,430
1108	Ministry of Environment and Forestry	10,480,900,000	4,245,400,000	14,726,300,000	10,481,631,505	4,245,400,000	14,727,031,505
	1002000 Environment Management and Protection	1,949,900,000	1,368,100,000	3,318,000,000	1,949,900,000	1,368,100,000	3,318,000,000
	1010000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	421,000,000	-	421,000,000	421,731,505	-	421,731,505
	1012000 Meteorological Services	1,032,000,000	403,000,000	1,435,000,000	1,032,000,000	403,000,000	1,435,000,000
	1018000 Forests and Water Towers Conservation	7,078,000,000	2,474,300,000	9,552,300,000	7,078,000,000	2,474,300,000	9,552,300,000
1109	Ministry of Water, Sanitation and Irrigation	6,395,000,000	71,883,000,00	78,278,000,000	6,395,728,930	71,083,000,00	77,478,728,930
	1001000 General Administration, Planning and	761,044,353	150,000,000	911,044,353	761,773,283	150,000,000	911,773,283

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BI	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGET 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
	Support Services						
	1004000 Water Resources Management	1,663,850,560	14,757,000,00	16,420,850,560	1,663,850,560	14,667,000,00	16,330,850,560
	1017000 Water and Sewerage Infrastructure Development	3,227,254,245	34,784,000,00	38,011,254,245	3,227,254,245	33,404,000,00	36,631,254,245
	1014000 Irrigation and Land Reclamation	712,536,298	9,769,000,000	10,481,536,298	712,536,298	9,649,000,000	10,361,536,298
	1015000 Water Storage and Flood Control	-	10,813,000,00	10,813,000,000	-	10,783,000,00	10,783,000,000
	1022000 Water Harvesting and Storage for Irrigation	30,314,544	1,610,000,000	1,640,314,544	30,314,544	2,430,000,000	2,460,314,544
1112	Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning	3,044,600,000	2,411,700,000	5,456,300,000	3,044,973,103	2,431,148,393	5,476,121,496
	0101000 Land Policy and Planning	3,044,600,000	2,411,700,000	5,456,300,000	3,044,973,103	2,431,148,393	5,476,121,496
1122	State Department for Information Communication and Technology & Innovation	1,653,000,000	23,827,600,00	25,480,600,000	1,585,387,615	21,203,977,79	22,789,365,405
	0207000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	259,756,418	-	259,756,418	259,756,418	-	259,756,418
	0210000 ICT Infrastructure Development	535,501,658	22,084,200,00	22,619,701,658	535,501,658	19,947,515,52 2	20,483,017,180
	0217000 E- Government Services	857,741,924	1,743,400,000	2,601,141,924	790,129,539	1,256,462,268	2,046,591,807

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BI	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGE 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
1123	State Department for Broadcasting & Telecommunica tions	5,950,500,000	450,900,000	6,401,400,000	6,456,916,225	496,900,000	6,953,816,225
	O207000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	195,354,943	-	195,354,943	197,771,168	-	197,771,168
	0208000 Information and Communication Services	4,639,859,377	271,400,000	4,911,259,377	5,143,859,377	271,400,000	5,415,259,377
	0209000 Mass Media Skills Development	224,500,000	74,500,000	299,000,000	224,500,000	120,500,000	345,000,000
	0221000 Film Development Services Programme	890,785,680	105,000,000	995,785,680	890,785,680	105,000,000	995,785,680
1132	State Department for Sports	1,338,610,000	15,144,550,00 0	16,483,160,000	1,338,850,782	15,147,791,39 9	16,486,642,181
	0901000 Sports	1,338,610,000	15,144,550,00 0	16,483,160,000	1,338,850,782	15,147,791,39 9	16,486,642,181
1134	State Department for Culture and Heritage	2,749,190,000	54,600,000	2,803,790,000	3,350,148,547	95,896,560	3,446,045,107
	0902000 Culture / Heritage	1,700,225,273	43,600,000	1,743,825,273	2,299,185,273	83,600,000	2,382,785,273
	0903000 The Arts	142,285,698	-	142,285,698	142,285,698	-	142,285,698
	0904000 Library Services	772,618,439	11,000,000	783,618,439	791,518,439	11,000,000	802,518,439
	0905000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	134,060,590	-	134,060,590	117,159,137	1,296,560	118,455,697

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGET 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
1152	State Department for Energy	6,636,000,000	68,747,000,00 0	75,383,000,000	6,636,000,000	67,247,000,00	73,883,000,000
	0211000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	413,000,000	130,000,000	543,000,000	413,000,000	130,000,000	543,000,000
	0212000 Power Generation	2,267,000,000	10,288,000,00	12,555,000,000	2,267,000,000	9,588,000,000	11,855,000,000
	0213000 Power Transmission and Distribution	3,744,000,000	55,692,000,00 0	59,436,000,000	3,744,000,000	55,191,000,00	58,935,000,000
	0214000 Alternative Energy Technologies	212,000,000	2,637,000,000	2,849,000,000	212,000,000	2,338,000,000	2,550,000,000
1162	State Department for Livestock	3,307,400,000	2,818,800,000	6,126,200,000	3,308,178,143	5,821,076,726	9,129,254,869
	0112000 Livestock Resources Management and Development	3,307,400,000	2,818,800,000	6,126,200,000	3,308,178,143	5,821,076,726	9,129,254,869
1166	State Department for Fisheries, Aquaculture & the Blue Economy	2,264,100,000	7,956,200,000	10,220,300,000	2,267,372,675	10,656,200,00	12,923,572,675
	0111000 Fisheries Development and Management	1,963,266,794	7,422,572,580	9,385,839,374	1,963,266,794	7,352,572,580	9,315,839,374
	0117000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	184,633,206	-	184,633,206	187,905,881	70,000,000	257,905,881

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22			
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	
	O118000 Development and Coordination of the Blue Economy	116,200,000	533,627,420	649,827,420	116,200,000	3,233,627,420	3,349,827,420	
1169	State Department for Crop Development & Agricultural Research	13,435,000,000	31,424,692,65 4	44,859,692,654	13,436,419,328	31,526,699,98 7	44,963,119,315	
	O107000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	4,802,350,786	1,948,400,664	6,750,751,450	4,803,770,114	1,870,407,997	6,674,178,111	
	0108000 Crop Development and Management	2,911,708,075	27,068,291,99 0	29,980,000,065	2,911,708,075	27,248,291,99 0	30,160,000,065	
	0109000 Agribusiness and Information Management	118,875,579	1,485,000,000	1,603,875,579	118,875,579	1,485,000,000	1,603,875,579	
	0120000 Agricultural Research & Development	5,602,065,560	923,000,000	6,525,065,560	5,602,065,560	923,000,000	6,525,065,560	
1173	State Department for Cooperatives	1,220,300,000	374,600,000	1,594,900,000	1,221,290,884	404,600,000	1,625,890,884	
	0304000 Cooperative Development and Management	1,220,300,000	374,600,000	1,594,900,000	1,221,290,884	404,600,000	1,625,890,884	
1174	State Department for Trade and Enterprise Development	2,134,300,000	1,207,900,000	3,342,200,000	2,436,129,067	1,739,017,429	4,175,146,496	
	0307000 Trade Development and Promotion	2,134,300,000	1,207,900,000	3,342,200,000	2,436,129,067	1,739,017,429	4,175,146,496	

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED B	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMI	ENDED BUDGET 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
1175	State Department for Industrialization	3,111,000,000	3,722,900,000	6,833,900,000	3,112,433,120	3,296,600,000	6,409,033,120
	0301000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	425,019,601	-	425,019,601	426,452,721	-	426,452,721
	0302000 Industrial Development and Investments	1,439,176,689	790,266,000	2,229,442,689	1,439,176,689	863,966,000	2,303,142,689
	0303000 Standards and Business Incubation	1,246,803,710	2,932,634,000	4,179,437,710	1,246,803,710	2,432,634,000	3,679,437,710
1184	State Department for Labour	2,770,500,000	2,586,470,200	5,356,970,200	2,782,769,908	2,560,718,482	5,343,488,390
	0910000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	450,616,114	-	450,616,114	442,886,022	337,105	443,223,127
	0906000 Promotion of the Best Labour Practice	669,101,128	73,360,000	742,461,128	669,101,128	63,811,177	732,912,305
	0907000 Manpower Development, Employment and Productivity Management	1,650,782,758	2,513,110,200	4,163,892,958	1,670,782,758	2,496,570,200	4,167,352,958
1185	State Department for Social Protection, Pensions & Senior Citizen Affairs	30,490,462,021	3,036,550,000	33,527,012,021	30,485,432,498	3,082,638,823	33,568,071,321
	0908000 Social Development and Children Services	3,870,926,619	217,245,000	4,088,171,619	3,870,926,619	263,333,823	4,134,260,442

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22			
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	
	0909000 National Social Safety Net	26,404,323,516	2,819,305,000	29,223,628,516	26,394,323,516	2,819,305,000	29,213,628,516	
	0914000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	215,211,886	-	215,211,886	220,182,363	-	220,182,363	
1194	State Department for Petroleum and Mining	965,000,000	2,902,800,001	3,867,800,001	965,601,695	2,926,138,073	3,891,739,768	
	0215000 Exploration and Distribution of Oil and Gas	336,000,000	2,649,400,001	2,985,400,001	336,000,000	2,649,400,001	2,985,400,001	
	1007000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	275,000,000	-	275,000,000	275,601,695	23,338,072	298,939,767	
	1009000 Mineral Resources Management	292,800,000	126,200,000	419,000,000	292,800,000	126,200,000	419,000,000	
	1021000 Geological Surveys and Geo Information	61,200,000	127,200,000	188,400,000	61,200,000	127,200,000	188,400,000	
1202	State Department for Tourism	6,477,059,152	500,000,000	6,977,059,152	5,207,319,152	475,000,000	5,682,319,152	
	0306000 Tourism Development and Promotion	6,477,059,152	500,000,000	6,977,059,152	5,207,319,152	475,000,000	5,682,319,152	
1203	State Department for Wildlife	9,005,000,000	632,810,000	9,637,810,000	7,611,813,774	632,810,000	8,244,623,774	
	1019000 Wildlife Conservation	9,005,000,000	632,810,000	9,637,810,000	7,611,813,774	632,810,000	8,244,623,774	

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	JDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMM	ENDED BUDGET 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
	and Management						
1212	State Department for Gender	1,030,300,000	2,632,000,000	3,662,300,000	1,035,807,321	2,632,000,000	3,667,807,321
	0911000 Community Development	-	2,130,000,000	2,130,000,000	-	2,130,000,000	2,130,000,000
	0912000 Gender Empowerment	729,915,304	502,000,000	1,231,915,304	729,915,304	502,000,000	1,231,915,304
	0913000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	300,384,696	-	300,384,696	305,892,017	-	305,892,017
1213	State Department for Public Service	18,318,020,000	260,170,000	18,578,190,000	18,325,020,000	568,012,066	18,893,032,066
	0710000 Public Service Transformation	7,859,013,166	210,170,000	8,069,183,166	7,859,013,166	410,170,000	8,269,183,166
	0709000 General Administration Planning and Support Services	485,210,161	-	485,210,161	492,210,161	107,842,066	600,052,227
	0747000 National Youth Service	9,973,796,673	50,000,000	10,023,796,673	9,973,796,673	50,000,000	10,023,796,673
1214	State Department for Youth Affairs	1,429,343,000	3,230,491,076	4,659,834,076	1,439,989,789	3,210,491,076	4,650,480,865
	0711000 Youth Empowerment	1,429,343,000	3,230,491,076	4,659,834,076	1,439,989,789	3,210,491,076	4,650,480,865
1221	State Department for East African Community	609,000,000	-	609,000,000	609,846,603	-	609,846,603
	0305000 East African Affairs	609,000,000	-	609,000,000	609,846,603	-	609,846,603

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	JDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22			
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	
	and Regional Integration							
1222	State Department for Regional & Northern Corridor Development	2,785,000,000	995,500,000	3,780,500,000	2,785,000,000	1,315,500,000	4,100,500,000	
	1013000 Integrated Regional Development	2,785,000,000	995,500,000	3,780,500,000	2,785,000,000	1,315,500,000	4,100,500,000	
1252	State Law Office and Department of Justice	4,977,480,000	155,500,000	5,132,980,000	4,978,349,801	181,301,535	5,159,651,336	
	0606000 Legal Services	2,395,179,956	-	2,395,179,956	2,395,179,956	-	2,395,179,956	
	O607000 Governance, Legal Training and Constitutional Affairs	1,876,200,000	90,500,000	1,966,700,000	1,876,200,000	90,500,000	1,966,700,000	
	0609000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	706,100,044	65,000,000	771,100,044	706,969,845	90,801,535	797,771,380	
1271	Ethics and Anti- Corruption Commission	3,258,530,000	64,900,000	3,323,430,000	3,258,530,000	67,493,119	3,326,023,119	
	0611000 Ethics and Anti- Corruption	3,258,530,000	64,900,000	3,323,430,000	3,258,530,000	67,493,119	3,326,023,119	
1281	National Intelligence Service	42,451,000,000	-	42,451,000,000	42,451,000,000	-	42,451,000,000	
	0804000 National Security Intelligence	42,451,000,000	-	42,451,000,000	42,451,000,000	-	42,451,000,000	
1291	Office of the Director of	3,125,290,000	145,100,000	3,270,390,000	3,125,952,706	150,286,238	3,276,238,944	

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	JDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22		
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
	Public Prosecutions						
	0612000 Public Prosecution Services	3,125,290,000	145,100,000	3,270,390,000	3,125,952,706	150,286,238	3,276,238,944
1311	Office of the Registrar of Political Parties	1,346,480,000	-	1,346,480,000	1,961,696,750	-	1,961,696,750
	0614000 Registration, Regulation and Funding of Political Parties	1,346,480,000	-	1,346,480,000	1,961,696,750	-	1,961,696,750
1321	Witness Protection Agency	487,860,000	-	487,860,000	489,042,929	-	489,042,929
	0615000 Witness Protection	487,860,000	-	487,860,000	489,042,929	-	489,042,929
2011	Kenya National Commission on Human Rights	407,850,000	-	407,850,000	408,711,517	-	408,711,517
	0616000 Protection and Promotion of Human Rights	407,850,000	-	407,850,000	408,711,517	-	408,711,517
2021	National Land Commission	1,437,200,000	-	1,437,200,000	1,444,003,829	38,896,786	1,482,900,615
	0116000 Land Administration and Management	1,437,200,000	-	1,437,200,000	1,444,003,829	38,896,786	1,482,900,615
2031	Independent Electoral and Boundaries Commission	14,385,890,000	78,500,000	14,464,390,000	15,226,688,218	125,000,000	15,351,688,218
	0617000 Management of Electoral Processes	14,283,893,393	78,500,000	14,362,393,393	15,124,691,611	125,000,000	15,249,691,611
	0618000 Delimitation of Electoral Boundaries	101,996,607	-	101,996,607	101,996,607	-	101,996,607

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22			
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	
2061	The Commission on Revenue Allocation	383,630,000	-	383,630,000	485,616,016	-	485,616,016	
	0737000 Inter- Governmental Transfers and Financial Matters	383,630,000	-	383,630,000	485,616,016	-	485,616,016	
2071	Public Service Commission	2,265,090,000	19,300,000	2,284,390,000	2,372,171,009	19,300,000	2,391,471,009	
	0725000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	765,713,413	19,300,000	785,013,413	772,794,422	19,300,000	792,094,422	
	0726000 Human Resource Management and Development	1,319,259,243	-	1,319,259,243	1,419,259,243	-	1,419,259,243	
	0727000 Governance and National Values	145,691,191	-	145,691,191	145,691,191	-	145,691,191	
	0744000 Performance and Productivity Management	34,426,153	-	34,426,153	34,426,153	-	34,426,153	
2081	Salaries and Remuneration Commission	621,380,000	-	621,380,000	621,380,000	-	621,380,000	
	0728000 Salaries and Remuneration Management	621,380,000	-	621,380,000	621,380,000	-	621,380,000	
2091	Teachers Service Commission	281,059,000,00	645,100,000	281,704,100,00	281,809,000,00	645,100,000	282,454,100,000	
	0509000 Teacher Resource Management	272,634,269,14	600,000,000	273,234,269,14	273,384,269,14 1	600,000,000	273,984,269,141	

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22			
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	
	0510000 Governance and Standards	1,012,523,418	-	1,012,523,418	1,012,523,418	-	1,012,523,418	
	0511000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	7,412,207,441	45,100,000	7,457,307,441	7,412,207,441	45,100,000	7,457,307,441	
2101	National Police Service Commission	722,210,000	-	722,210,000	794,089,102	-	794,089,102	
	0620000 National Police Service Human Resource Management	722,210,000	-	722,210,000	794,089,102	-	794,089,102	
2111	Auditor General	5,659,520,000	200,000,000	5,859,520,000	5,706,450,390	200,000,000	5,906,450,390	
	0729000 Audit Services	5,659,520,000	200,000,000	5,859,520,000	5,706,450,390	200,000,000	5,906,450,390	
2121	Office of the Controller of Budget	639,250,000	-	639,250,000	689,122,143	-	689,122,143	
	0730000 Control and Management of Public finances	639,250,000	-	639,250,000	689,122,143	-	689,122,143	
2131	Commission on Administrative Justice	527,860,000	-	527,860,000	614,821,608	-	614,821,608	
	0731000 Promotion of Administrative Justice	527,860,000	-	527,860,000	614,821,608	-	614,821,608	
2141	National Gender and Equality Commission	435,780,000	-	435,780,000	436,592,581	-	436,592,581	
	0621000 Promotion of Gender Equality and Freedom from Discrimination	435,780,000	-	435,780,000	436,592,581	-	436,592,581	

VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	UDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMI	ENDED BUDGET 2021/22	Γ ESTIMATES FY
PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
Independent Policing Oversight Authority	914,150,000	-	914,150,000	949,758,146	-	949,758,146
0622000 Policing Oversight Services	914,150,000	-	914,150,000	949,758,146	-	949,758,146
Sub-Total: Budget Estimates for the Executive	1,235,187,002,9 73	659,957,596,3 71	1,895,144,599,3 44	1,221,224,982,9 92	668,730,591,8 91	1,889,955,574,88
The Judiciary	15,003,000,000	2,333,400,000	17,336,400,000	15,003,000,000	2,248,400,000	17,251,400,000
0610000 Dispensation of Justice	15,003,000,000	2,333,400,000	17,336,400,000	15,003,000,000	2,248,400,000	17,251,400,000
Judicial Service Commission	581,800,000	-	581,800,000	581,800,000	-	581,800,000
O619000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	581,800,000	-	581,800,000	581,800,000	-	581,800,000
Sub-Total: Budget Estimates for the Judiciary	15,584,800,000	2,333,400,000	17,918,200,000	15,584,800,000	2,248,400,000	17,833,200,000
Parliamentary Service Commission	6,612,314,228	-	6,612,314,228	6,612,314,228	-	6,612,314,228
0722000 Senate Affairs	6,612,314,228		6,612,314,228	6,612,314,228	-	6,612,314,228
National Assembly	23,502,082,199	-	23,502,082,199	23,502,082,199	-	23,502,082,199
0721000 National Legislation, Representation and Oversight	23,502,082,199		23,502,082,199	23,502,082,199	-	23,502,082,199
Parliamentary Joint Services	5,702,753,573	2,065,550,000	7,768,303,573	5,702,753,573	2,065,550,000	7,768,303,573
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE Independent Policing Oversight Authority 0622000 Policing Oversight Services Sub-Total: Budget Estimates for the Executive The Judiciary 0610000 Dispensation of Justice Judicial Service Commission 0619000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services Sub-Total: Budget Estimates for the Judiciary Parliamentary Service Commission 0722000 Senate Affairs National Assembly 0721000 National Legislation, Representation and Oversight Parliamentary	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE Independent Policing Oversight Authority 0622000 Policing Oversight Services Sub-Total: Budget Estimates for the Executive The Judiciary Judicial Service Commission 0619000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services Sub-Total: Budget Estimates for the Judiciary Parliamentary Service Commission 0722000 Senate Affairs National Assembly Parliamentary Parliamentary	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE Independent Policing Oversight Authority 0622000 Policing Oversight Services Sub-Total: Budget Executive Indicial Service Commission 0619000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services Sub-Total: Budget Estimates for the Judiciary Parliamentary Service Commission 0722000 Senate Affairs National Assembly 23,502,082,199 Parliamentary	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES STIMATES SUB-Total: Budget Stimates for the Executive Sub-Total: Budget Stimates for the Executive State Stimates State Sta	PROGRAMME CODES & CURRENT ESTIMATES CAPITAL ESTIMATES CURRENT ESTIMATES CORPTAIL ESTIMATES

VOTE	VOTE/	SUBMITTED BU	JDGET ESTIMA	TES FY 2021/22	BAC RECOMMENDED BUDGET ESTIMATES FY 2021/22		
	PROGRAMME CODES & TITLE	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES	GROSS CURRENT ESTIMATES	GROSS CAPITAL ESTIMATES	GROSS TOTAL ESTIMATES
	0723000 General Administration, Planning and Support Services	5,544,772,323	2,065,550,000	7,610,322,323	5,544,772,323	2,065,550,000	7,610,322,323
	0746000 Legislative Training Research & Knowledge Management	157,981,250		157,981,250	157,981,250	-	157,981,250
	Sub-Total: Budget Estimates for Parliament	35,817,150,000	2,065,550,000	37,882,700,000	35,817,150,000	2,065,550,000	37,882,700,000
	FY 2021/22 GROSS BUDGET ESTIMATES	1,286,588,952,9 73	664,356,546,3 71	1,950,945,499,3 44	1,272,626,932,9 92	673,044,541,8 91	1,945,671,474,88 3

SECOND SCHEDULE

POLICY AND FINANCIAL RESOLUTIONS RELATING TO THE ANNUAL ESTIMATES FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2021/2022

A. POLICY RESOLUTIONS

- 1. THAT, by 1st October, 2021 the National Treasury sets up a fund that may be financed through a long-term bond for the payment of the existing verified pending bills and court awards;
- 2. THAT, the State Department for University Education and the Kenya Forest Service under the Ministry of Environment and Forestry enters into an arrangement with the Kenya Revenue Authority to provide how the non-remitted tax dues will be paid, and a report to the National Assembly by 1st October, 2021;
- 3. THAT, in order to facilitate the expansion of exports and growth, an Export Management Office (EMO), domiciled in the State Department for Trade, be established and have representation from all agencies that deals with the entire export value chain of Kenyan products. A status report on the establishment of the Office be submitted to the National Assembly by 30th September, 2021;

- 4. THAT, the State Department for Trade conducts a study on the need to establish trade offices or logistical centres in key existing and potential markets within the various regional economic blocks and countries which have established bilateral relationships with Kenya, so as to focus on international export opportunities that match Kenya's current/potential business capability. The study should be completed by 31st December, 2021;
- 5. THAT, the Ministry of Petroleum and Mining enhances its Monitoring and Evaluation Framework in oil and gas exploration and submits a report on it to the National Assembly by 1st October, 2021;
- 6. THAT, the State Department for ICT and Innovation institutes a robust Monitoring and Evaluation framework on the maintenance and rehabilitation works of the existing ICT Infrastructure (NOFBI II Cable and Last Mile County Connectivity Networks), and submits a report on the framework to the National Assembly by 1st September, 2021;
- 7. THAT, the Government logistics be interlinked and provided for by government institutions such as Kenya Railways Corporation, Kenya Ports Authority, Posta Corporation and Kenya Airways. This should be in place by end of Financial Year 2021/22 and managed by the seemingly efficient MDAs.
- 8. THAT, the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning commences the use of a cashless revenue collection system by 30th May, 2022;
- 9. THAT, the National Treasury, the State Department for Social Protection and the State Department for ASAL consolidates all the existing cash transfer programs under one umbrella, and a report on this exercise be submitted to the National Assembly by 1st January, 2022;
- 10. THAT, the State Department for University Education and the University Funding Board complete the review of the University funding formula by 1st October, 2021, to ensure it supports recently established universities which seem to be disadvantaged with the current formula. The revised formula should also be applied in the allocation of infrastructure funds to various universities; and,
- 11. THAT, the Ministry of Health, the National Treasury, the Ministry of Labour and Social Protection, the Ministry of Education and NHIF actualize the amalgamation of *Edu-Afya Medical Insurance*, Linda Mama, Health Insurance Subsidy Programme (HISP), Orphans and Vulnerable Children Cash Transfers (OVC-CT) to form one UHC scheme for the indigents through National Hospital Insurance Fund (NHIF), and a report be submitted to the National Assembly by 1st October, 2021.

B. FINANCIAL RESOLUTIONS AND OBSERVATIONS

- 12. THAT, Kshs1.2 billion be set aside to fund projects arising from public hearings and that the expenditure be domiciled under the relevant Ministries/State Departments.
- 13. THAT, the House notes that the Budget and Appropriations Committee received substantial additional requests from Departmental Committees amounting to Kshs85.7 billion to meet various expenditure shortfalls. Notwithstanding their importance, most of the requests could not be accommodated within the Budget Estimates for the Financial Year 2021/2022 due to prevailing resource constraints and the need to contain the fiscal deficit within a certain limit.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, as I make my submission and move the Motion, I will add more on the general overview of the Budget. I will leave the individual allocations of various State Departments to the various Chairpersons of the Committees, who also appeared before us. I would like to also give them an opportunity to expound on the same.

On behalf of the Members of the Budget and Appropriations Committee, and as mandated by Article 221 of the Constitution and Section 39 of the Public Finance Management Act, it is my pleasure to present to this House the Report on the Estimates of Revenue and Expenditure for the Financial Year 2021/2022.

The 2021/2022 Budget Estimates were submitted to Parliament on Thursday, 29th April 2021. Equally, the Parliamentary Service Commission and the Judiciary independently tabled their Estimates in line with Article 127 (6) (c) and 173 (3) of the Constitution, respectively.

The 2021/2022 Budget Estimates were committed to the Budget and Appropriations Committee as well as the Departmental Committees of the National Assembly for review in line with their respective mandates. After reviewing the budgets of the various Ministries, Departments and Agencies (MDAs) within their purview, they were required to submit their recommendations to the Budget and Appropriations Committee for consideration and inclusion in this Report. I confirm to this House that, indeed, we had an agreement with all the Departmental Committees. For the first time, most of their recommendations have been carried.

In examining and reviewing the Budget Estimates of the Year 2021/2022, the Committee held 14 sittings including two meetings with the National Treasury where extensive deliberations were held. The Committee also held discussions with the Parliamentary Service Commission and the Office of the Auditor General. They have critically reviewed their budgets. The outcomes of those deliberations have informed the various recommendations contained in this Report.

The Committee also received submissions from Departmental Committees highlighting significant policy and financial recommendations of the budget of various MDAs within their purview. If approved by this House, these recommendations will form the basis for the passage of the Appropriations Bill for Financial Year 2021/2022. The Consolidated Report of the Departmental Committees as well as summary of their observations and policy recommendations are contained in Annexures 1 and 11 of this Report.

Article 221(5) of the Constitution requires the Budget and Appropriations Committee to seek the views of the public on the Budget and take their recommendations into account when finalizing this Report. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 Pandemic and the need to limit in-person public gatherings, for the second year running, the Committee held a virtual public participation exercise whereby the public was required to submit their views through written memoranda, highlighting their areas of concern and key expenditure priorities.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, in line with an already established tradition of addressing key expenditure priorities for 12 selected counties in each financial year, the Committee specifically, sought the views of the public on the key expenditure priorities for the following counties: Kilifi, Mandera, Meru, Machakos, Nyandarua, Kiambu, Elgeyo Marakwet, Nandi, Baringo, Vihiga, Siaya and Nairobi. Notably, the submissions were also received from the following: Mbugua Mureithi and Co. Advocates and Clean Cooking Association of Kenya highlighting various concerns on matters of public finance. The summary of the public hearing is in Annexure III of this Report.

I confirm to this House that with the conclusion of those 12 counties, we would have covered the entire country in the last five years. So, each and every part of this country has participated in public hearing.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, we made a few observations on the pending bills. Despite the presidential directive in June 2019 that all pending bills by Government agencies are cleared immediately, they continued to present a significant challenge in almost all sectors of the Budget. It is noted that the veracity of some of those pending bills is also in doubt. Each Committee that came before us had a huge list of pending bills, both verified and unverified.

The National Youth Service, for example, has a pending bill of Kshs16 billion. There is hue and cry everywhere that the Government is not paying. It is a challenge that we are throwing to the National Treasury because pending bills should always be the first charge. Unfortunately, it is not happening.

Two, there is the issue of stalled projects. This has become a permanent feature in our Budget. There is non-adherence to project guidelines issued by the National Treasury, including the introduction of new projects before completion of existing ones despite the thin spread of resources. A policy must be implemented to ensure enforcement of the PFM Act and the National Treasury guidelines. Sanctions should be instituted to MDAs that introduce new projects before completion of the existing projects. In every Budget, there are institutions that must be included. There is Mitihani House in South C that was started about 40 years ago, our own building here and Kenya Industrial Research and Development Institute (KIRDI). You will literally find buildings in every part of the country that are incomplete. They must now be concluded.

The third one is on duplication of functions. There is an overlap of functions between some spending agencies as well as between some programmes. There is need to streamline functions which will crucially eliminate duplication and reduction of resource wastage.

There is also failure of the Medium-Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) process. There appears to be very little focus on the medium-term budget despite the MTEF process requiring budgeting to focus on a three-year rolling plan to ensure predictability of the Budget. Poor performance of MTEF is partly attributed to the failure to adapt to initially weak budget systems as well as limited institutional capacity. The situation is made worse by inadequate support and agency buy-in for their mode of budgeting.

Having made those recommendations, I now want to focus on the macro-economic framework underpinning this year's Budget. The proposed Budget is anchored on a Gross Domestic Product growth projection of 6.3 per cent in the Financial Year 2021/2022 and a 6.1 per cent over the medium term. The key drivers of this growth are a stable macro-economic environment, improved domestic consumption and improved external demand. Further, export demand is expected to increase due to reopening of economies globally as global vaccinations continue to gain traction.

Even though this economic growth projection is plausible, the Committee is concerned that some of the growth fundamentals are potentially weak. For instance, given the current economic condition, private consumption has reduced considerably due to increased unemployment and income losses and this may persist through the year 2021. A prolonged pandemic would also delay the full recovery of tourism and also the hospitality industry.

Further, there are concerns that the Budget allocations are not really addressing supply side constraints pertaining to exports and this has severely constrains the country's export earning potential. Kenya's export quality has largely remained unchanged with the country exporting more primary products as opposed to manufacturing goods.

Other risks to the macro-economic outlook include the rising fuel prices, foreign exchange rate fluctuation, political uncertainty as the country approaches the general elections and the possibility of introduction of strict COVID-19 Pandemic containment measures in the second

quarter of 2021. If these risks materialise, the economic growth may be lower than the projected and this will further constrain the resource envelope.

I just want to look at the key highlights of the Budget. The overall Budget of the Financial Year 2021/2022 is estimated to be Kshs3.66 trillion, if you look at it below the line or Kshs3.03 trillion. Of course, the Kshs600 billion difference is basically the provision of foreign debt redemption, with Recurrent Expenditure amounting to Kshs1.29 trillion and Development Expenditure at Kshs666.5 billion. In terms of the budget for the three arms of Government, the Budget for the Executive is estimated at Kshs1.895.14 trillion. Parliament gave a proposal of Kshs46.61 billion. However, of course, through consideration of the Committee, it was capped at Kshs37.88 billion and the Judiciary at Kshs17.92 billion.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, the Committee observed that the overall Budget Estimates for the Financial Year 2021/2021 has slightly exceeded the approved 2021/2022 Budget Policy Statement ceiling by Kshs14.11 billion. This is mostly on account of increased Consolidated Fund Services spending which, of course, went to about Kshs20.83 billion. Parliament had also burst the ceiling in their recommendations with Kshs8.7 billion. For most of the other sectors, however, the net changes do not differ significantly from the approved Budget Policy Statement ceilings. Remember, it is this same House that approved the BPS and we said that we have to remain within the BPS ceilings. This is notable departure from the past where BPS ceilings were routinely flouted and the Budget increased in total disregard of the approved budget framework.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, for the first time, we want to commend the National Treasury for this effort. With regard to the policy direction of the 2021/2022 Budget, the Committee notes that despite the Government's implementing of a Post-COVID-19 Economic Recovery Strategy, the key performance indicators and targets for the next financial year have not been clearly articulated and specified in the proposed Budget. This makes it difficult for the Government to monitor the projects/programmes being implemented under the Post-COVID-19 Economic Recovery Strategy. Indeed, there is no evidence that broad policy objectives particularly with regard to sustainable development goals have been factored into the Budget. Implementation of the SDGs is crucial as they are designed to enhance sustainable growth.

Furthermore, this being the final year of implementing the Big Four Agenda, the Committee is concerned that the full benefit of the Big 4 Agenda may not be realized by 2022. It is, therefore, important for the strategies that will be implemented beyond 2022, notably the Fourth Medium Term Plan (MTP4) of the vision 2030, to include full completion of programmes and projects under the Big 4 Agenda.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, it is also observed that the format of presentation of the Budget for the 2021/2022 Financial Year and the Medium Term is such that there is no effective budget challenge function taking place. Specifically, the review of the ongoing projects has not been provided thereby making the Budget simply incremental. The Committee notes that the poor management of capital projects has led to some projects being permanent on the Budget.

The issue of pending bills and stalled projects continues to present a significant challenge in almost all the sectors of the Budget. For the most part, this is out of the outcome of poor planning, thus leading to budget cuts and expenditure adjustments during the supplementary budget process. No clear roadmap has been provided by the National Treasury on how effectively they can conclude those matters.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, while the Committee appreciated the need to place certain key projects and programmes under seemingly high performing ministries, there is concern that there might be a major problem in the flow of Exchequer on a timely basis. It is noted that in the next

financial year, the National Treasury will become an implementing agency for projects such as the Dogo Kundu Special Economic Zone, the Standard Gauge Railway Naivasha and Mombasa Port Development Project, Lamu Port-South Sudan-Ethiopia Transport (LAPSSET) Project and the Kenya Mortgage Refinance Company. The National Treasury will find it difficult to strike a balance between being the implementer of public finance and also being a sectorial implementer of these infrastructure projects.

The Committee notes with concern that after tabling of the Budget in Parliament, the National Treasury has formed a perpetual habit of submitting additional changes to the Budget which is under scrutiny by the Legislature, hence creating difficulties in arriving at the final budget. You also remember when we were also dealing with the Supplementary Budget I, there was another addendum that was brought on top of our Supplementary. That net effect of the proposed changes to the 2021/2022 Budget by the National Treasury has resulted in an overall reduction of the Budget with Kshs8.9 billion.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, how are we going to finance the 2021/2022 budget? The National Treasury projects a total revenue collection of Kshs2.039 billion in the Financial Year 2021/2022, an increase by approximately Kshs200 billion from the previous year. Of this, the ordinary revenue will constitute Kshs1.776 trillion compared to Kshs1.57 trillion in this current year. Income tax which accounts for approximately 50 per cent of the tax revenue is projected to increase by Kshs102 billion.

Moreover, there is an amount of Kshs835 billion in the Financial Year 2021/2022. On the other hand, Value Added Tax (VAT) is projected at Kshs473 billion. Excise Duty is projected at Kshs241 billion and import duty is at Kshs119 billion compared to Kshs395 billion, Kshs209 billion and Kshs96 billion, respectively, in the year 2020/2021.

For the revenue projects, they appeared to be conservative and have complied with the International Monetary Fund (IMF) benchmarks. It should be noted that the expected revenue performance is based on the sustained recovery in economic performance. Should the risks to the growth outlook highlighted materialise, it may lead to significantly lower-than-projected revenue collection.

The Committee notes with concern that the tax enhancement measures contained within the BPS of 2021 such as strengthening the audit function in the Domestic Tax Department, enhanced scanning, resolution of tax dispute through alternative dispute resolutions, and fast-tracking the conclusion of cases before the Tax Appeals Tribunal do not address the structural issues that have contributed to the decline in revenue as the share of economic activity.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, further, the proposals contained in the Finance Bill 2021 are unlikely to contribute to the increase in revenue as a share of GDP. If revenue underperforms, it will lead to expansion of the fiscal deficit and a likely increase of the public debt levels. Going forward, the National Treasury projects a significantly higher growth in all the major revenue categories in the Financial Year 2021/2022 and the Medium Term. Consequently, the fiscal deficit as a share of GDP excluding grants is expected to improve from 8.2 per cent in 2021/22 to 4.5 per cent in 2023/24.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, the Committee notes that without a comprehensive strategy by the National Treasury to enhance revenue collection, it is unlikely that the fiscal deficit for the medium term will be attained. Notably, continuous expansion of fiscal deficit has put the country off the trajectory towards EAC convergence criteria which targets, among other criteria, a ceiling on fiscal deficit including grants at 3 per cent of the Gross Domestic Product by 2021.

The other concern is on the Consolidated Fund Services (CFS) which will amount to Kshs1.33 trillion in the Financial Year 2021/2022. For the first time, the CFS will surpass the recurrent budget that we have had. This is a 24 per cent increase by Kshs253 billion from the Financial Year 2020/ 2021 levels and is primarily on account of increased public debt service expenses which presently constitute approximately 88 per cent of all the CFS expenses.

Hon. Deputy Speaker, by end of March 2021, the public and public guaranteed stock of debt amounted to Kshs7.34 trillion, representing 82 per cent of the Kshs9 trillion national debt ceiling. The Committee is concerned that the Financial Year 2021/2022 Budget may not be implementable if the debt ceiling is not adjusted.

The Committee is concerned that the increase in CFS expenditure is contributing to growing budget inflexibility. In the Financial Year 2021/2022, it is estimated CFS will account for about 43 per cent of the total annual budget and 65 per cent of the total revenue collected with the fiscal constraint worsening in the outer years. Indeed, a five-year review indicates that by the Financial Year 2021/2022, the CFS will have increased by over 150 per cent in absolute terms.

Since financial year...

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Hon. Chairperson, I hope you are aware that you have about five minutes to go. I know how difficult it is to summarise, but you already have done 26 minutes.

Hon. Kanini Kega (Kieni, JP): Hon. Deputy Speaker, I am just about to conclude.

Thank you so much.

There is a concern over the growing pension obligations which is attributed to many years of non-implementation of contributory pension plans. In the Financial Year 2021/2022, the financial obligations are estimated to be Kshs153.6 trillion.

As I conclude, I want to highlight a few policy recommendations.

The National Treasury should set up a fund that may be financed through a long-term bond for the payment of the existing verified pending bills and court awards. The funds should be in place by 1st October 2021. Specifically, there should be an infrastructure bond. There are so many pending bills in the Ministry of Transport and Infrastructure Development. If that is done, definitely we will offset some of the debts that we have. We have also indicated that a debt is a debt, whether it is foreign or locally owed to a contractor. They should all be treated the same.

On the financial recommendations because of the constraints of time...After extensive deliberations, the Committee recommends that Kshs1.2 billion be set aside to fund projects arising from public hearings. This expenditure should also be domiciled under specific ministries. On the financial recommendations, the Budget and Appropriations Committee received substantial additional requests from departmental committees amounting to Kshs85. 7 billion to meet various expenditure shortfalls.

However, due to the prevailing resource constraints and need to contain the fiscal deficit within a certain limit, the Committee could not finance most of these recommendations. However, we have agreed with most of the reallocations that were done within the Committee. The Committee, therefore, resolves that a reduction of Kshs20.328 billion be effected from the votes and programmes as shown in Schedule I and II and as per the justifications provided. Additionally, that the same amount be increased in the votes as shown in Schedule I and II.

The allocation for Parliament will be capped at Kshs37.882 billion. We also had requests from Parliament but due to the fiscal constraints, they could not be acceded to.

The third one is the allocation to the Judiciary which will be capped at Kshs17.833 billion. Hon. Deputy Speaker, I beg to move.

As I said at the outset, we will have Committee Chairs who will delve more on the allocation of departmental committees and I request Hon. (Dr.) Makali to second.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Hon. (Dr.) Makali, I am sure you are aware about the timelines that you have for seconding. Proceed.

Hon. Makali Mulu (Kitui Central, WDM-K): Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker.

I am aware I have about 10 minutes and so I will see how to manage within that time, although it will be very difficult. I must start by thanking my Chairman for that good moving of the Motion. I thank my colleagues in the BAC for doing a thorough job on those budget proposals. I thank the departmental committees for their input. It was not easy to make this Budget.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Order! Who are these two Members standing behind the Leader of the Majority Party? They are not observing the rules of containment - Social distancing. We are not from the same place. Let us proceed, Dr. Makali.

Hon. Makali Mulu (Kitui Central, WDM-K): Hon. Deputy Speaker, I hope my few seconds will be compensated.

It was not easy to make this Budget and, more so, based on the prevailing conditions in the country and the world. However, the economic fundamentals informing this Budget are quite strong. Despite the few risks which my Chair has mentioned, I hope Members noticed that if the assumptions underlying the Budget do not get changed as we move on, we are likely to realise the projected revenue. Looking at this Budget, for the first time, I would say that the projected revenue for this financial year appears to be more realistic as compared to the past years. We are likely to generate the proposed Kshs2.03 trillion.

On the issue of private consumption...We seem to be monitored keenly. It is a fact in this country that what we call household income has seriously been eroded as a result of people losing their jobs and businesses. So, the demand side of the equation has a challenge.

The other item we need to monitor seriously is the cost of energy. This is a threat to the inflation rights in this country. At the same time, unless the food prices continue to remain very low, it may be a risk because of the energy cost. As we look at this Budget keenly, there is a need to look at the way we are investing the money and, more so, the development budget.

Time has come when any investment which is going to be taken in this financial year must target high priority areas where the expected returns are also very high.

I just want to say a few things related to some of the things my Chairman has said. If you look at the pending bills, all the departments which appeared before us as a Committee did report very huge pending bills. What is critical is that these pending bills need to be analysed. I just want to single out one of the departments, namely, the State Department of Infrastructure, where we have pending bills relating to compensation. Kenyans out there have gone out of their way to give land to the Government to do roads, but these people have not been compensated for many years. I think this is really unfair to Kenyans who have given out land. These are areas where the Government needs to go out of its way to make sure that these kinds of pending bills are cleared because they affect our people.

The other point is the issue of the Consolidated Fund Services. Just as the Chair has said, this item has already gone beyond the Recurrent Expenditure of this Government. I think we need to basically make sure that as a House that oversees the Executive, we start looking at the detailed explanatory notes to see what is in the Consolidated Fund Services. It is very important for this House for purposes of accountability and transparency. When these figures keep on moving up, then we have very minimal budget flexibility as a House, as Departments and even as the Treasury. In budgeting, there is a very small room to change things. It is like a straight jacket where you pay

debts and salaries and then you remain with a very small amount for development. I have said many times in this House that unless we address the matter of development, the economy will not grow. The cake will remain the same and we will not be able to share any bigger cake. This is where you see the issue of fiscal deficit becoming very serious in this country. As a country, both this House and the Executive, we need to monitor our expenditure patterns. Unless we do something on the expenditure side of the budget, we are likely to continue having a lot of problems.

Another area that I want to focus on more is that of policy. We all know that we are now moving to what we call the Competency Based Curriculum. We know that next year, we will have Grade Five. This curriculum demands very regular evaluation, but when you look at the budget, you realise that this sector has been underfunded. It is the same with the technical training institutes. This brings us to the question of planning and budgeting because you must tie policy planning and budgeting, so that the policies are supported by planning and by the budget. Otherwise, you will have hanging policies which will not help the country. For example, many of the technical training institutes are complete in terms of infrastructure, but they have not been equipped. So Kenyans are not reaping the benefits of these institutions because they are not equipped.

The other matter that is critical is if you look at the budget of the Auditor-General, it is actually not high. What we are forgetting is that in addition to auditing the national Government, the Auditor-General is auditing county governments, all the Special Funds and all constitutional commissions. Because the Auditor-General supports us to do our work in terms of oversight, I think this office needs to be properly funded so that we can get real time reports to do our work.

Another critical issue is that of cash transfer. As a country, we have decided that we are going to support the elderly, orphans and quite a number of groups through cash transfers. However, when you analyse the budget, the cash transfers are not coming in a timely manner. Actually, there is a lot of delay. It can be four months delay. Some are given two months and there is another four months remaining. If it is Government policy to support these disadvantaged groups, it would be important that the cash transfer programme is adequately funded so that Kenyans can reap its benefits.

The other issue is that of the Exchequer. Members are already complaining that the NG-CDF money has not been released. This has to do with Exchequer releases. The country is not generating enough money in terms of revenue collection to support the budget. The matter of Exchequer releases has to be properly monitored. Unless we get it right, the budgeting exercise becomes just an exercise in futility. The truth of the matter is that you budget, but the money that is supposed to support the implementation of the budget is not released by the Treasury. We have that challenge and that is why Members are saying "no NG-CDF, no budget". In addition to "no NG-CDF, no budget", there are other areas which also demand to be supported.

I can see I am running short of time. As a House, we really need to monitor the budget-making process because even the supplementary budgets we are passing are also interfering. We reduce budgets which have already been committed and at the end of the day, we have pending bill. These are the small things which need to be sorted out.

As I conclude, the other issue I want to comment on is tax administration. I think tax administration needs a serious review. I urge the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning to take that matter and follow it keenly.

With those many remarks, I second the Motion.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Order, Hon. Members

(Question proposed)

If I had to go through the list, of course, Hon. Mugambi Gichuki would be on top. Let us have Hon. Mugambi Gichuki and then I will give a chance to some committee chairs. They need to have some priority also because they will lead debate on some specific Votes.

Hon. Gichuki Mugambi (Othaya, JP): Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker. I beg to support. This is the first time we continue to increasingly prepare our budget under very tight and delicate fiscal infrastructure. As the Chair has moved, we have a lot of challenges in this budget. One of them is pending bills. We discussed the issue of pending bills last year and whereas we appreciate the effort the national Government, through the National Treasury, has made to try and address this monster of the pending bills, it is not the case with the county governments. I think our Senate counterparts should take up this matter and ensure that county governments also reduce the pending bills. Pending bills are a big challenge to business community. We have seen many businesses collapsing. We have seen many being auctioned.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Just a minute, Hon. Member for Othaya. Just to inform the chairpersons, we will be going as per the listing of the committees as per the Second Schedule. Chairpersons will be having 15 minutes. The reason we gave Hon. Gichuki this opportunity was to allow the chairpersons to reorganise themselves and, of course, once in a while the Members will have a shot. Proceed, Hon. Gichuki.

Hon. Gichuki Mugambi (Othaya, JP): Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker. These pending bills are affecting the operations of our banking system. We have seen banks making extremely huge provisions in their loan book because people are not able to pay. The Government owes most of these people money through pending bills.

We also have to speak to another monster in the issue of pending bills. We have Government ministries owed money by other Government ministries. It is a big challenge. A good example is a case of the KPLC. They are already under big pressure on operations and they are owed money by other Government ministries. We are requesting the National Treasury to coordinate all the departments and ensure that intra-pending bills within the Government are sorted out and this will ensure that Government parastatals which had a big financial challenge can at least survive.

The other monster is stalled projects. Most stalled projects are holding huge amounts of investments. When you consider that this money has been borrowed and then put or sunk into stalled projects, and we are paying interest, these projects are not producing or helping in increasing productive capacity within the economy, you wonder why we should be starting other projects. We have a stock of almost one trillion shillings in stalled projects. These are projects that are financed through borrowed funds. This House should take a lead particularly on our office block which continue to hoard a lot of money. Some of us continue to suffer without offices and yet we are planning for real projects without finishing a project which is already over 80 per cent complete.

When we look at the tax measures being undertaken to finance this budget, we realise that we are going to have a challenge. We are going to have a challenge because we are in a time when the Government should be giving incentives to the economy. Unfortunately, we are coming up with some very difficult tax measures. We should be careful not to kill the goose that lays the golden egg. When we talk about tax measures like turnover tax, turnover tax for those who understand tax, is tax on sales, but we know that the principle of taxation is that tax should be levied on profits not on profit. There are many businesses even Government operations like KPLC

which made losses. When you tax them on sales, you are already killing them. We have very low margin businesses in this economy. They have high turnover, but they do not have the margin. If you tell them to pay you money in advance, you will kill them. In the long term, we are going to kill the goose that lays the golden egg. I know we have to definitely finance our budget operations, but we must be careful not to affect our long-term survival by killing entrepreneurship and businesses which are employing hundreds and thousands of Kenyans.

When you take businesses like oil business downstream, the margins are very low, but turnover is high. In businesses like steel manufacturing, their turnovers are very high, but margins are very low. If you tax them on turnover, you are going to kill them and we should stick to the principles of good taxation system. A good taxation system will always ensure that you tax those who should be taxed to always ensure that it is easy to administer tax. Today, we are introducing some tax system where you have even to go and employ a tax collector in a farmers shade to monitor the hen when it is laying the egg, to make sure that you tax that egg. That is not the principle of a good tax system. The principle of a good tax system should be to give the farmer time to feed his chicken, to collect his eggs, to take them to the market, to come back and calculate profits and then pay tax on what is remaining. That is a good tax system. The one where you monitor whether a chicken is about to lay an egg and then you ask the farmer whether it is you to take the egg or the farmer, is a bad tax system.

We also have to support our small scale businesses. We must ensure that the money we are borrowing from the banking sector is not crowding out the private sector. We have started seeing signs of interest rates coming up because the Government is borrowing a lot locally. We would request the National Treasury to continue making effort to externalise part of the debt and also to manage expenditure. As we speak, when you look at the amount of money we are paying on external loans plus interest and what we are paying as salaries and recurrent expenditure, it shows that we are between a rock and a hard place. The only way to manage this situation is for the National Treasury to come up with measures to reign in on unnecessary expenditure and also to ensure that most of the commercial loans which are short-term with high interest rates are renegotiated, externalised where we can, and we go the multilateral way where we can get loans on concession basis.

I beg to support.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: We will go by the Second Schedule of the Standing Orders in terms of citing committees. Let me confirm that I do not see the first three, namely, the Chair of the Departmental Committee on Administration and National Security, the Chair of the Departmental Committee on Agriculture and Livestock, and the Chair of the Departmental Committee on Communication, Information and Innovation. In that case, I will give the Vice Chair of the Committee on Defence and Foreign Relations. Unfortunately, he just walked out. The Chairperson of the Departmental Committee on Education and Research, are you ready?

Hon. (Ms.) Florence Mutua (Busia CWR, ODM): Yes, Hon. Deputy Speaker.

Hon. Deputy Speaker: Proceed.

Hon. (Ms.) Florence Mutua (Busia CWR, ODM): Thank you, Hon. Deputy Speaker, I want to take this opportunity to first and foremost thank the Members of two committees, namely, the Departmental Committee on Education and Research and the Budget and Appropriations Committee for their dedication in this process. The 2021/2022 proposed budget for the education sector, which has six spending agencies, is currently standing at Kshs503 billion. This sector ranks among the highest in terms of resource allocation in the budget. I want to take this opportunity to thank the Government for according us the support even if the resources are not enough.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, the various areas of spending which have been given priority in the budget include resources to support free primary and secondary education, school infrastructural improvement, funding of the university education, management of teacher resources, as well as expansion of the various TVET institutions in the country. As part of our oversight role in the budget, allow me to point out some key issues which the Committee observed in the proposed budget for the education sector and which the Committee tried to address in its review of the Budget Estimates.

One, my Committee noted that the school feeding program aimed at retaining learners in primary schools is disadvantaged in areas not being administered in an effective manner. One of the reason is the inadequacies in the criteria used to identify which areas to benefit. We have requested the Ministry to quickly review the policy to ensure that areas are mapped again so that we can have even the slum areas reached by this program. Further, we have also supported LOCONEC, which is going to expand this program in terms of bringing development partners on board to ensure this program reaches many students who need the school feeding program.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, the Committee also noted that the Ministry has been capturing learner's details through the Information Management System (IMS) where we capture the data of the learners. This is going to ensure that any capitation that goes to schools rules out any ghost students so that we the capitation reaches the right beneficiaries.

On the expansion of TVET infrastructure, the Committee also observed that the first phase of the 30 technical training institutes (TTIs) is well on course. However, the money that is being released is not enough. We kindly requested the National Treasury to ensure that these TVETs are completed so that areas that have the TTIs benefit from them. The Committee also noted that most of the infrastructure projects in public universities are not well funded and they have really taken long to be completed. We kindly requested the National Treasury, through the Departmental Committee on Budget and Appropriations, to ensure that these TTIs are fully supported for them to be completed for use.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, on university education, the Committee observed that most of the public universities are not well funded and are struggling to stay operational. The problem is compounded by the criteria used to allocate resources to them. A thorough review of the funding criteria for universities quickly needs to be done, which the Committee is undertaking currently, so that they get adequate funding. We have also requested for the support of the Universities Funding Board, which is a body legally mandated to review how public universities are funded. We have requested for support in the current budget. As a country, we need to have a serious conversation on whether we require the many universities in view of the constrained resources. This is a discourse which needs to be opened up for Members to discuss.

With the current roll out of the Competency Based Curriculum, there is need to ensure that the many examination assessments which will be required will be in a safe custody. That is why the Committee is supporting the completion of the Mitihani House, as the Chairman of the Departmental Committee on Budget and Appropriations has said, because Mitihani House has stalled for the last 35 years. My Committee is very committed to having this house completed because in the new CBC, many assessments will be done and we need to have them done locally. Currently, we are having exams printed abroad and it is very expensive. It would be prudent to complete this construction, so that the security of examinations and exam materials are guaranteed as the country implements the new CBC.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, still on the issue of the implementation of the new curriculum, the Committee noted that the newly established State Department for Implementation

of Curriculum Reforms has unfortunately not been supported in the current budget. This is going to throw the education sector in disarray despite the House having approved the appointment of the Principal Secretary. This may delay the operationalisation of this very important department, hence, derailing the smooth implementation of the new curriculum. The National Treasury should ensure that this department is provided with resources so that the rollout of the curriculum reforms is done properly.

Lastly, I would like to comment on the issue of recruitment of teachers which is dear to Members of this House. Given the Government's 100 per cent transition and the issue of the new curriculum reforms, we will need a higher number of teachers hired so that we can ensure that the 100 per cent transition takes place properly. We also need infrastructure because of the same 100 per cent transition. The Teachers Service Commission (TSC) has been allocated Kshs2.5 billion to hire only 5,000 teachers for secondary schools which is hardly enough given the prevailing teaching resources. We, as a Committee, requested the National Treasury, through the Departmental Committee on Budget and Appropriations, to give us an additional 5,000 teachers so that this time, we can hire 10,000 teachers, and a good number of teachers can be hired in the constituencies.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, not related to the budget, but related to the issue of the TSC policy, Hon. Members should know that we are relooking at the Act to ensure that when the teachers are being hired, we have 70:30 per cent; 70 per cent being the local people being hired and 30 per cent from external. So, Members kindly know that we are looking at that policy to ensure that we hire teachers locally first, the 70 per cent, and 30 per cent externally to ensure that our people, who we represent, also get hired first.

My Committee having reviewed the budget for the education sector, made policies and financial recommendations which I believe the Ministry will pick to ensure the intended outcomes of the education sector are fully achieved.

I thank you.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Thank you, Chairlady of the Departmental Committee on Education, for a job well done. We appreciate that. The next Chairperson is that of the Departmental Committee on Energy as per our Standing Orders. Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Energy is not in the House at the moment. The next is the Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Environment and Natural Resources. He is not in the House. The Chairlady, Departmental Committee on Finance and Planning, Hon. (Ms.) Gladys Wanga.

Hon. (Ms.) Gladys Wanga (Homa Bay (CWR), ODM): Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker. I rise to support this Report by the Departmental Committee on Budget and Appropriations. I thank the Departmental Committee on Budget and Appropriations for putting in a lot of work in coming up with this Report within the short time that was available. I would also like to thank the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning for the work they put in in scrutinising the budget for the departments and commissions that fall under our Committee.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, we do this budget under the reality of significant resource constraints. The whole world is reeling under the effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic and an under-performing economy. This is a reality that has hit Kenyans with job losses and with inability of Kenyans who were able to feed their families now being unable to fend for their families. In the last financial year, we had a raft of COVID-19 relief measures which provided relief and cushion for many families. We had deductions in Pay-As-You-Earn (PAYE), we had deductions in the Value Added Tax (VAT), and we had deductions in corporate taxes so that we

were able to help our corporates to save jobs for our people. These deductions in taxes cushioned Kenyans. However, they resulted in a drastic drop in our revenue. Therefore, we are between a rock and a hard place. On one hand, we are cushioning Kenyans, but on the other hand, we have to raise sufficient revenue to provide services for them.

The situation that we find ourselves in calls for creativity in tax administration. This is not in terms of not only taxing the same old culprits, but also trying to widen our tax base by finding new people. We need to invest sufficiently in the Kenya Revenue Authority (KRA). As the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning, we have a Report on the Floor of this House that speaks to some of the areas that we feel there needs to be investment in KRA, so that we can raise more money. While we were discussing some issues with KRA, we learnt that for every one shilling that we invest there, we can raise Kshs100. Therefore, if we put in an extra one billion, we are likely to raise Kshs100 billion. If we do not invest enough in KRA and some of the facilities that we require, we cannot raise money.

We thank the National Treasury for ensuring that we will now have scanners along our borders. When the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning visited our borders in Malaba in Busia County, we discovered that the Ugandan side whose total tax revenue is Kshs600 billion has invested in electronic scanners. However, there are no scanners on the Kenyan side of the border. Therefore, Kenyan officers wait for images from the Ugandan side to check whether a truck has covered ethanol with water melons. These are some of the investments that we must make.

The issue of debt has already been raised by the Chairman of the Budget and Appropriations Committee. We have a debt of Kshs7.3 trillion currently. Then, there is an additional Kshs1.35 trillion of debt that has been signed, but has not been drawn or disbursed. This brings the total debt to Kshs8.65 trillion against a ceiling of Kshs9 trillion. Our fiscal deficit in this financial year is almost Kshs900 billion. This means that we must adjust our debt ceiling to accommodate what we will do in this coming financial year.

What alternatives do we have on the matter of debt? We thank the National Treasury for an aggressive push towards having Public Private Partnerships (PPPs). Before the Floor of this House, we have the PPP Bill that we will ensure is passed.

Hon. Cornelly Serem (Aldai, JP): On a point of order, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker. The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. Wanga, just hold on for a moment. The Member for Aldai seems to be agitated about something. What is out of order, Member for Aldai, Hon. Serem?

QUORUM

Hon. Cornelly Serem (Aldai, JP): Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, we are discussing a matter of national importance in this House. Is it in order that we are discussing this weighty matter on the Floor of the House, when we do not have the Quorum?

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. Members, the Member has stood in his place and raised that point of order. We know its meaning. I will direct that we certify the numbers that we have within the next two minutes, so that we can proceed. Otherwise, we will ring the Quorum Bell. The Serjeant-at-Arms, through the Clerks-at-the-Table, will confirm whether we have the requisite Quorum.

Hon. Serem cannot leave the chamber. You will stay here until this process is over. Hon. Members, you know that when this point of order is raised, you cannot leave the chamber when

the certification is going on. I am waiting for the confirmation of the Members who are in the holding chambers.

Hon. Chris Wamalwa (Kiminini, ANC): Can you ring the Quorum Bell?

(Hon. Kipyegon Ng'eno consulted loudly)

(Loud consultations)

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Member for Emurua Dikirr. Hon. Chris Wamalwa, hold your horses. The Speaker is in charge. Relax. You cannot direct him from where you are seated.

Hon. Members, the Serjeant-at-Arms have confirmed that we have the requisite numbers to proceed with this business. There are enough Members in the holding chambers. We shall proceed. Hon. Wanga, proceed. Your microphone has gone off. We cannot find you. Kindly move to the Table here. Give her the microphone.

Hon. Gladys Wanga (Homa Bay CWR, ODM): Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker. Hon. Serem is my neighbour in the village, but he is now behaving like a first-term Member of Parliament. If one has never spoken in Parliament, the only thing they do is to stand and raise the issue of lack of quorum. Hon. Serem, as a good neighbour who was also known to my father, should behave like the adult that he is and as a good legislator. I do not know why he is behaving like a newcomer or an armature. All the matters are here and we will debate them here and agree on them here on the Floor of the House and not when we are out.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, on the issue of alternatives to debt, I thank the National Treasury for its aggressive push towards Public Private Partnerships (PPPs) so that some of these capital projects can be funded through the PPPs rather than from the Exchequer. The Bill on the PPPs is in this House and we hope Members will support it so that we can go the PPP direction on some of the major investments.

There is also the issue of privatisation and divestiture. We have not had any listing in the Nairobi Securities Exchange for a very long time, for almost over ten years. I would like to urge the National Treasury to move with speed because we have a Privatisation Commission that is not complete. It has a chairman, but does not have a complete board. So the National Treasury should move with speed to appoint commissioners to the Privatisation Commission, so that it can continue to look at the list for privatisation, so that we can make a decision on how else we can raise money away from just borrowing.

On the issue of planning, we must continue to fund and support the State Department of Planning, so that we can plan. Failing to plan is planning to fail as it was said by Benjamin Franklin many years ago. Institutions such as Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (KIPPRA) that were excellent, premier institutions of research, are currently crumbling because of underfunding. This we should move and do.

In terms of the National Government Constituencies Development Fund (NG-CDF), the allocation, under planning, of Kshs41.7 billion, the Committee has made a recommendation for an increase. We will be discussing that when we come to the Committee of Supply. Our people rely mostly on what they can reach easiest, which is the NG-CDF. Every corner in the country you go to, you will see that NG-CDF is doing what it was meant to do. The same goes for the National Government Affirmative Fund (NGAF).

On the issue of the State Department for Devolution, I urge the House to consider funding emergencies. Since Independence, for the first time, there is no fund for emergencies. In case there are floods or drought, every Member of Parliament will have to go to their pockets to look for money. The feeding programmes we have had in counties such as Turkana, where, continuously, say, on a monthly basis have been receiving aid because of drought, have not been budgeted for. We hope, and have proposed, as a Committee, that we can look at some of these areas.

A commission such as the Commission on Revenue Allocation requires support so that we can deal with own-source of revenue. If you look at our counties, the own-source revenue that they were raising when they were still county councils has now dropped by almost 90 per cent in terms of reporting. So, you wonder whether counties are no longer raising the money or they are being raised, but going to people's pockets like pocket change without being reported and remitted to the Consolidated Fund.

These are some of the areas that we have strong proposals to make upon as the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning. I know Hon. Chris Wamalwa was saying that as the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning, we need to speak to revenue raising measures. Next week, the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning will be tabling its report on the Finance Bill. At that point, we will discuss adequately our revenue raising measures and the proposals that have been made by the National Treasury. We have listened to various views as far as public participation is concerned and we have proposals of moving forward. At that point, we will discuss in details the revenue raising measures.

For now, those are some of our comments on the Report of the Budget and Appropriations Committee on the Budget Estimates for 2021/2022.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, I beg to support.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Well done, Chair of the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning. Next is the Chair of the Departmental Committee on Health.

Hon. Emmanuel Wangwe (Navakholo, JP): On a point of order, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. Whip of the Majority Party.

Hon. Emmanuel Wangwe (Navakholo, JP): Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, this House is governed by rules and order. Is the Member for Aldai in order to keep on criss-crossing from one chair to another despite the issues of COVID-19? He is moving in the pretext that he wants to mobilise Members to go out yet all of us are with him in terms of seeking funds for the NG-CDF. By virtue of his actions, I am worried that my Members might end up getting COVID-19. Is the Member in order to keep hopping around from one place to another?

Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. Members, you know this is a House of consultations and we consult from time to time. Even what he is trying to do is also within our Standing Orders.

(Applause)

If he feels that he needs to rise on a point of order on quorum, he can do so and we will deal with it. But as he does that, I advise him to adhere to the COVID-19 protocols so that he protects himself

and the other Members. Consultations for Members will continue, but within the COVID-19 requirements.

Let us have the Chair for the Departmental Committee on Health.

Hon. Ali Rasso (Saku, JP): On a point of order, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): The Hon. Member for Saku, what is out of order?

Hon. Ali Rasso (Saku, JP): Thank you very much Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker. The Chairs have had the priority during this Morning Sitting, but we, the Members, have come early to contribute to the same. I wish to seek your indulgence that we can have two chairpersons of committees speak followed by one Member, so that we do not sit here in vain. In that case, we should follow the advice of the Member for Aldai, and walk out.

Thank you.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Member for Saku, I saw you here very early. I was here early with you when we started. But we are the Members who set up the Standing Orders. If you have a look at Standing Order No.216, it gives priority to chairpersons. They are not too many. I just have three or four to go then I will come to the Members. So, these are Standing Orders and my hands are bound. We should finish up with the chairpersons. Just hold on. You will have your say. Member for Saku, you always have your say.

The Chair of the Departmental Committee on Health is not there. The next one is the Chair of the Departmental Committee on Justice and Legal Affairs. I do not see him. Labour and Social Welfare.

We will then have the Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Lands, followed by the Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Sports, Culture and Tourism, followed by the Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Trade, Industry and Cooperatives, then the Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Transport, Public Works and Housing, and then the Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Defence and Foreign Relations, in that order. That will be it.

Proceed, the Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Labour and Social Welfare.

Hon. Josphat Kabinga (Mwea, JP): Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, for giving me this chance to contribute to this Report by the Budget and Appropriations Committee. On the onset, I thank them for working very hard under difficult conditions that we are in in the country to produce this Report. As I do so, I encourage them to continue fighting for the integrity of our budgets and budget making processes, and more so, ensuring that what we budget for is what we can meet in terms of supply.

One of the things that we have noted is that despite the budgets that we do pass in this House, quite often than not, disbursements of funds from the Treasury delays services out there. In the Department of Labour and Social Welfare, we have a number of our Departments that are suffering that cannot provide services because of delayed disbursement especially for Third and Fourth Quarters. We have, particularly, child welfare that has not received funds for the Third and Fourth Quarters, thereby, putting vulnerable children that have been sponsored by this particular Department at risk of being thrown out of the schools that they are in. Therefore, I request that the Budget and Appropriations Committee continue following it up with the Cabinet Secretary (CS) to ensure that release of funds especially for critical areas is given priority.

The budget that we have before us, while we are under serious challenges of our economy, we encourage the Budget and Appropriations Committee to prioritise areas that are social in nature and those that can generate income to not only sustain themselves, but also generate funds to our country.

The *Inua Jamii* Programme falls under our Committee. As Members know, this is an important area where the elderly, both men and women, who are over 70 years of age, are supposed to receive money to help them to live decent lives. In the current budget, we have a deficit of Kshs4.7 billion putting 128,000 elderly men and women out of the scheme and disfranchising them from their peers who are receiving this money. It is painful when your neighbours are receiving this money and you are not receiving it. This is an area that I really urge the Budget and Appropriations Committee to look again and see what can be done to cover this deficit of Kshs4.7 billion.

The Kshs4.7 billion is for the currently registered elderly men and women. There are many others out there who are yet to be entered into the programme through registration. If we have to sustain this programme, then we need to finance it continually and ensure that we are not causing grief to some of our members of the society.

This Committee oversees the Department of Labour and Social Welfare which is also looking at very important areas including the youth, women, children, elderly and people living with disabilities (PWDs). It is unfortunate that these areas continue to be underfunded yet they are the areas that are supposed to look at the vulnerable members of our society. We continue to have them underfunded. The Youth Empowerment Fund was allocated only Kshs60 million to support the youth-owned enterprises, and yet the youth constitutes 60 per cent of our population. This is money that cannot be felt in any way.

Another area that is underfunded and it is unfortunate is the National Employment Authority. This Authority has the potential to secure job opportunities for our youth who are unemployed in the countries of the Middle East, Europe, Australia, Canada and others. They have the potential to increase revenue remittance in this country by a large margin. Just to give a comparison, in the 2020, countries were able to have remittances of Kshs59 billion; Mexico - Kshs42 billion; Philippines - Kshs32 billion; Egypt - Kshs29 billion; China - Kshs83 billion, and Kenya, with all its potential, was only able to have a remittance of Kshs3.1 billion.

Within the short time I have interacted with the Members of this Committee, we have been discussing why we are not able to attract more labour exports, and some of the things that we have discovered is that our country has not been able to place labour attaches in some of these countries. They have placed labour attaches in only four countries including Swaziland, Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates (UAE) and Qatar.

It is our opinion that we need to increase our funding to this Ministry, so that more of labour attaches in liaison with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs can be attached to these countries to attract more revenue. Those of us who are following up on what is happening in places like Dubai, only 13 per cent of the total population of that country are local people. The rest of the people who are in Dubai, namely, 87 per cent, are foreigners. These foreigners are earning a lot of revenue for their countries.

In our situation, because of underfunding of institutions like the National Employment Authority that will not only help our youth to secure jobs, but also ensure that they are treated decently wherever they are, we find that some of the Kenyans out there are suffering. They are suffering because some of them went to these countries without the help of the Government, but through agents whose sole purpose is to earn from the young men and women. They are under torture out there. We do not have labour attaches who follow up on what they are doing out there.

When you go to some of these countries, you find that, while other nationals are enjoying their employment having secured very decent employment in these countries, our people are not

looked after. It is for this reason, once again, that I urge the Budget and Appropriations Committee to look at some of these areas that will directly generate revenue for our country.

Another area is the National Youth Service (NYS) which is now operating under a new Act. The old NYS that we knew is probably changing to an institution that has the potential to generate revenue to not only sustain itself, but also generate revenue for this country.

Anyone who visits the NYS would be impressed by the construction equipment that is sitting idle in that institution awaiting funding for their newly created enterprise that would help to turn them into a business institution. Those of us who are following what is happening in China are aware that the companies that are constructing roads and buildings in this country are directly owned by the Chinese Government. We have no reason not to utilise the resources that are possessed by the NYS to help us in the building of infrastructure. They have come up with an enterprise. They have been looking for funding for the last five years. All they require is about Kshs2 billion to kick off that particular enterprise. We should then hold them accountable to ensure that they no longer rely on Government funding as they generate funds for themselves. This is important so that as we prepare our budget even as we deal with the challenges that this country is going through, just like any country, we continue to be innovative and support special priority areas; areas that generate revenue, to ensure that we support our budgets and stop relying on foreign support.

Another area that I want to speak on is one that is covered very well in the Report of the Budget and Appropriations Committee, namely, pending bills and stalled projects. Pending bills are a thorn in the flesh of many Kenyans who genuinely did jobs for this country. Those people are today leading a very poor life yet they supplied or provided services to the Government. Since some of these pending bills have been subjected to vetting, it is high time the National Treasury and the Committee came up with a lasting solution to this problem. In the Report, there is a recommendation by the Committee that the National Treasury should come up with a long-term bond to address the issue of pending bills once and for all, so that we do not continue having this item in our budget.

The NYS has its own history. The Government should not punish people who genuinely supplied goods and services. The NYS owes suppliers and service providers about Kshs15 billion. When we went through that list, we realised that with a sum of about Kshs2 billion, we can pay the small-scale suppliers who are suffering out there. These are suppliers who are owed less than Kshs1 million or Kshs2 million each. This will help dependants of people who no longer exist. It is due to these pending bills that some people actually took their lives away or have ended up dying because they could not sustain themselves. This is, therefore, an issue that should be taken seriously.

We thank the President for the directive that he gave, that all the pending bills should be cleared. It is upon the National Treasury to innovatively come up with an idea on how to clear this item out of our budget. I do not know whether we have stock of all the stalled projects in all the sectors of this country. Stalled projects are denying Kenyans essential services, some of which would improve the lives of Kenyans. I, therefore, urge the National Treasury to focus on this issue and ensure that every sector addresses the issue of stalled projects, so that Kenyans can start enjoying the services of those projects.

With those few remarks, I support the Report.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Chair, Departmental Committee on Lands, you have the Floor.

Hon. (Ms.) Rachael Nyamai (Kitui South, JP): Thank you very much, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker for giving me this opportunity. I support this Report.

I would like to thank the Budget and Appropriations Committee, the Chairman and Members, for the effort they have made in reviewing the Budget Estimates within the shortest time that was available.

I would also like to take this opportunity to thank the Members of the Departmental Committee on Lands for effectively interacting with the Budget Estimates for the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning, and the National Lands Commission. The Committee has made great recommendations that I will be going through. As the House is aware, we deal with the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning, and the National Lands Commission.

With regard to the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning, the focus is on titling and digitisation. This is production of title deeds for land that has been registered, which is a huge programme. The President would like to have all the land in this country digitised to ensure that when people come to invest, they are able to identify where the land is and get an indication of its value based on the laws that have been passed in this House and also in making reference to the land value index that was done. A lot of money has been put into production of title deeds and digitisation.

For the purpose of relevance, the Committee noted several issues on land. Just as the Chair of the Budget and Appropriations Committee said, we noted that the National Treasury had not implemented the resolution of this House contained in the Budget Policy Statement. Ours was slightly higher and has been clearly stated by the Chair.

The State Department for Physical Planning continues to operate on a very low budget of Kshs60 million. I joined this Committee in 2017 and the budget allocation for this department has been more or less the same. This House approved a nominee who was vetted for appointment to the position of Principle Secretary for the Department of Physical Planning. The PS clearly told the Committee that there was a requirement of Kshs1.9 billion for the Ministry to support Physical Planning within the counties. We are aware that physical planning is very important. What has been put there is only Kshs60 million.

I would like to thank the Budget and Appropriations Committee because they listened to the recommendations of my Committee and this department's budget allocation has been pushed up to Kshs200 million. However, it is still low. Since we now have a Principle Secretary for this department, it is important for it to be funded.

The State Department for Physical Planning needs to be allocated a Budget Vote to facilitate implementation of the proposed National Sectional Spatial Program (NSSP) and the Counties Spatial Support Program. The Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning needs to cease revenue collection in cash. The Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning is an important Ministry for all the other ministries because it provides land, which is required for development. Looking at the revenue collection for this financial year, by March 2021, the Ministry had collected Kshs7.3 billion against a target of Kshs13 billion. We need to sensitise the House on the importance of financing the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning because it is a Ministry that can finance itself and probably finance other departments as well. What the Committee has recommended is that the Ministry must cease cash collection. We have said this before. We are giving a close on the last day of June 2021 so that they do not have any excuse for collecting money in cash form.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, settlement of the landless in this country is an important aspect of the Government. The President has been very clear on settlement of people who are landless and the Committee has recommended uniformity in ensuring that it does not happen only

in one region of the country, but in all regions. We have seen the Ministry making an effort towards that. However, the Committee noted that only Kshs49 million has been given for resettlement of the landless in the Financial Year 2021/2022, against 39,000 people. You see, Kshs49 million against 39,000 persons clearly shows that planning has not been done very well. I thank the Committee again because the Departmental Committee on Lands made a recommendation of additional funding and we got Kshs250 million, at least, making it about Kshs300 million. We are really grateful as a departmental committee that the Committee on Budget and Appropriations is able to take into consideration issues raised within the departmental committees.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning has an interesting pending Bill of Kshs7,000,245,228,954. What we noticed as interesting is that this had not been declared earlier when you look at the reports that we are bringing. It was explained to us that they had put together all the pending bills from different governments. We realised most of these bills are awards made in court cases. These are awards going back to the last three governments where ministries had been sued due to commission or omission or falsification of documents by our own officers.

The Departmental Committee is very keen on this matter because we realise that our own lawyers are losing so many cases and also there is falsification of documents. The Departmental Committee on Lands would like the people responsible for falsification of documents to be held liable. We are talking of Kshs7.2 billion in pending bills which relate to matters in courts. These pending bills were not reflected in the previous financial years' reports despite the cases dating back to 2005. The Committee cast doubt on the authenticity of these pending bills. With regard to oversight, we said that we would like the Ministry to ensure that they go through these pending bills before payments are made.

As we look at the National Land Commission, it has been funded very lowly based on what they presented to the Committee and also to this House. We realised that most of the funding for the National Land Commission does not cater for development. This is very interesting because you realise that they can pay salaries and that is it. They have several projects that they have indicated they would like to have funded. The National Land Commission has not been allocated funds for development expenditure despite several presentations that have been made for development expenditure to the National Treasury including a proposal on vesting of land that has been acquired. We put so much effort. I remember the person who seconded this Motion, Hon. Makali Mulu, was talking about so many pieces of land that have been acquired compulsorily by the Government.

The National Land Commission is supposed to ensure that vesting of this land is done. However, we have been unable to provide. The budget that they have been requesting for is Kshs600 million. It is important to note that the Commissioners at the National Land Commission are using vehicles bought in 2013, which is a matter of concern. Moreover, they are expected to work in the counties. They are unable to move in and out of these counties.

As I talk about budget, I would like to thank the Ministry for what it has done. Thousands and thousands and actually millions of title deeds have been produced between 2017 and 2021. I would like to say that this is a great achievement by the Ministry and would like them to continue doing the same. Additionally, you realise that the Departmental Committee on Lands also reduced slightly the budget for titling and in concurrence with the Ministry. They clearly explained to the Budget and Appropriations Committee that this was done so that we can push money towards digitisation of titles, which as I said earlier is a big project we would like to see being funded.

With regard to recommendations, one of the policy recommendations is that the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning should have stopped dealing with cash by 30th May, 2021. The National Treasury should allocate a vote to the State Department of Physical Planning as I had clearly explained and state the projects that should be funded.

The Government, through the Cabinet, should review the current policy of centralising implementation of Information, Communication and Technology (ICT). The National Land Commission has a challenge with pushing for ICT projects because this is being done at the Ministry in charge of ICT and they are saying that this causes challenges. This year they recorded zero in terms of implementation and they could not do anything. The Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning should expedite full implementation of digitisation of land registries.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, you notice that digitisation of land is up there. Most important is to ensure that county offices are working. The county offices need to have infrastructure such as computers. The Ministry has managed to digitise Nairobi and its environs and they are planning to go to the counties. Therefore, the recommendation of the Departmental Committee on Lands was that we need to see more construction of proper offices within counties. This is where they have requested for funds to construct offices including one in Wajir. The northern region does not have a proper office and this is one of the recommendations.

With regard to financial recommendations, the Committee recommends that the House approves a vote of Kshs1,437,200,000 for the National Land Commission. I have said that this is very low. The National Land Commission has never received funding for development and this is a concern. They need to deal with issues of counties. Vote 112, Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning comprises of recurrent expenditure of Kshs3,044,600,000 and development expenditure of Kshs2,411,700,000.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, I would like to just state the financial recommendations made by the Departmental Committee. The Departmental Committee recommends that Kshs450 million be reduced from the processing, titling and registration of title deeds in the Land Policy and Planning Programme in the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning and raise the allocation for settlement to Kshs250, as I had clearly explained. This Kshs250 million is going to purchase land for a group called "Taita Taveta Teachers". The land is in Kisauni and it takes more than half of Kisauni Constituency. It is a matter that was passed by this House. Therefore, we really appreciate that this has finally been done.

An amount of Kshs. 100 million is to be increased in the Physical Planning Project so that the Department of Physical Planning can be facilitated to work. As I had said, it had been given very low amount and I have clearly also explained that it requires about Kshs1.9 billion. Therefore, this is just to kick start the work of the Department of Physical Planning which has been created. An amount of Kshs.50 million will go towards construction of land registries to boost the digitisation programme.

I would also like to highlight other recommendations that the Committee made. The National Treasury should avail additional funding in the future by Kshs700 million to go to the Ministry of Lands and Physical Planning for the digitisation process. This is so that we can see many of our pieces of land in counties being digitised. Those who have tried to experience what is happening in Nairobi know the advantage we are talking about. Someone can get a search within less than three minutes. An amount of Kshs. 300 million be provided to settlement.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, Kshs65 million be provided for construction of land registries; Kshs600 million to go to the National Land Commission; Kshs74 million to the NLC for purchase of vehicles; and another Kshs64 million to facilitate recruitment of technical staff.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, with those few remarks I support. Thank you.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): The next is the Chairperson, Departmental Committee on Sports, Culture and Tourism. Next one is Trade, Industry and Cooperatives. They are not there. Transport, Public Works and Housing? Not there too. We shall have the Chairperson, Departmental Committee of Defence and Foreign Relations. That will be the last of the Chairs.

Hon. Richard Tong'i (Nyaribari Chache, JP): Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker for giving me this opportunity so that I can make remarks on behalf of our Committee.

At the outset, we acknowledge the tireless work done by the BAC of running through all the 47 counties. It took a lot of hard work and we appreciate the input they got from those counties. This is the fourth annual budget to be prepared in the second term of the Jubilee administration, under the economic transformation agenda, which now puts emphasis on the Big Four Agenda. We are hoping that this Budget will help us achieve that. The success of the Big Four Agenda will help the country to raise the kind of money that we are looking for to create employment opportunities for the many unemployed youth. It will also boost the economy so that we have a bigger cake to share from, as opposed to what we have at the moment, where all of us are struggling to get a pie of what we have already exhausted. You can only give what you have and when you do not have, wisdom demands that you get a way of increasing that which you have so that you can have something to give out.

Our security forces, particularly the Kenya Defence Forces (KDF), have managed to keep the *Al-Shabaab* threat at bay. The attacks on our side have reduced tremendously in the second term of the Jubilee administration compared to what we experienced in the first term. We are alive to the threats facing the military, our people, and the nation at large. Our forces remained alive to these threats. They are determined to neutralise the militants completely. This is good for the country; we all owe it to the nation.

Our forces have done their bit. We have seen tremendous improvement compared to previous years. What the army has achieved together with the rest of the agencies, by teaming up together, is tremendous. They have ensured that Kenya is safe for anybody to live in and achieve their full potential.

I want to congratulate the Ministry of Defence for prudent utilisation of resources appropriated to them by this House. For the first time they were given an unqualified opinion by the Auditors when the audit report came out. That is good news for all of us. In the past, as a country, we have always assumed that what is given to the Kenya Army is top secret and so they did not have to be accountable.

Having had an opportunity to go to some of their institutions, I can attest, on behalf of my colleagues in Parliament and Kenyans that for sure the Kenya Army is probably one of the most successful institutions we have in this country, in terms of performance and utilisation of resources and professionalism.

No wonder the President is tapping into their potential and using them to instill some values and ethos into our society. He hopes that some of us will pick it up from that point and make our country great again, as it should be for the good of the generations to come. However, may I register my disappointment that, there have been some pending bills, despite the efforts by the Kenya Army.

In 2019/2020 Financial Year, the Ministry closed the year with pending bills amounting to Ksh8.1billion. This is against the assumption most of us have, that Kenya Army or the Defence

Forces are given money in full. The danger with these kinds of pending bills is that it exposes them. The last thing we want to have is our army being dragged to court for failing to pay their pending bills. The danger with this kind of arrangement in an institution which is as critical as the Kenya Army, is that when they get their share, they will use their budget on these pending bills. Consequently, that will reduce the money they have in their budget.

So, we urge the Ministry of Finance to move with speed and make good the outstanding money to the KDF so that they can pay their pending bills. This is a critical institution. We know that the country is as good as its army or defence forces. We want to have them comfortable within our economic comfort zone. We must ensure their safety so that they in turn can protect our people. This will enable investors to come and invest in Kenya.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, the National Security Intelligence Service (NSIS) plays a critical role in providing security, intelligence and counter-intelligence to deal with emerging threats such as terrorism. There also exists extraordinary threats like, internal and socio-political threats, environmental and regional cyber threats, among others. Despite a proposed allocation of Ksh42.5 billion, the agency still faces budgetary constraints just like other agencies. We implore upon the service to deliver with available resources given the macro-economic constraints facing our country, such as rising debt levels and the ever-growing fiscal deficits.

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs is equally a very critical institution. As we speak about that, the NSIS is one critical institution which overlaps almost in every sector in this Government. They are everywhere and their success is going to impact on every sector of this economy, because without intelligence reports, we have no capacity of knowing what is happening. We have no chance of knowing what the foreigners are planning against us or for us; we have no chance of developing systems to counter foreseen threats.

Unknown to many Kenyans, the NIS has done a lot for this country. During the COVID-19 situation, they were used immensely, especially, in contact tracing for the good of the country. We normally assume that it is a docket which should be handled by the Ministry of Health. Unfortunately, it had no capacity. The NSIS helped in tracking down all the people concerned, thus helping manage COVID-19. When we all succeed, we do it as a country. We need to do that so that we attract both foreign and local investors who will have comfort in the country. This is to enable them do their business knowing that big brother is watching over them in a good way to ensure they are safe.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, the NSIS is a key institution that we need to support. I am grateful that the BAC has tried to assist it. However, their proposal was that they get about Ksh46 billion so that they can achieve their goals. This being a new year, and one which we are preparing for the national elections, it is critical that the NIS is given resources and the support they need. They will ensure that there is safety and order. They will offer us protection. It is because they are the people who feed information to the Police, especially the Directorate of Criminal Investigations, so that they can act on the information they have been given.

When we started supporting them, the *Al-Shabaab* and other terrorist threats went down drastically. Some people might ask: What is it that is being done by NSIS? They work to stop or pre-empt. Their work is to ensure that it does not happen, but people are waiting for things to happen, then they will appreciate that NSIS is working.

My Committee has had an opportunity of going to the institutions. I will tell you we have never appreciated the kind of work they are doing. It is great and we are grateful that we have the kind of people in that department especially under the leadership of the general who has done

tremendous work. We are all happy as a team. Even the resources which have been allocated to them have been used prudently.

However, it is not enough, just like it is not enough in all the departments of our country or economy. We urge the Budget and Appropriations Committee to allocate them a little more money so that they ensure that our country is safe.

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs faces uncertainty given the level of funding against the requirement for the ministry. First there is the depreciation of the shilling against the dollar. You appreciate that the Ministry of Foreign Affairs is dealing with foreign institutions and their operations most times are foreign currency based. Whenever they are sending money to our embassies, they are sending them in dollars or foreign currencies. Therefore, they suffer the risk of fluctuation. Whenever our shilling is weakened, that reduces their budget by almost 4 to 5 per cent, depending on the fluctuation. So, we urge the Budget and Appropriations Committee to appropriate them some funds to cushion them on those fluctuations. They have to get money somehow from their own savings to use in the event that the shilling has fallen or depreciated against the hard currencies in the world. The current arrangement is that the mission retains collection for visas, passports and other fees and the money is utilised to fund immigration attachés in foreign missions.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, there is a feeling, and it is a proposal from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, that all the departments which are seconding their officers to the embassies should be able to finance their operations over there. This is because in their budgets, they have that provision.

However, unfortunately, when they send their officers, except NSIS, the rest of the departments which are sending their officers as attachés to the embassies have had to get the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to finance their operations, which eats up into their budget and yet again this budget has been given by the relevant department. We think that all the agencies which are being represented at the embassies should be able to finance and provide for their officers.

The policy on centralisation of ICT services was not possible to be implemented in foreign missions. There was need for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to be funded directly to enable them leverage on ICT for service delivery. Why the Committee welcomes the shift in policy change, their addendum as submitted by the National Treasury has not provided for such resources under the programme of Foreign Policy and Diplomacy and the Government has a good vision. They want to centralise the services, but there are some critical institutions because of the security and the kind of information they are handling, we feel as a Committee that the sensitivity of that information might help to have them given some exemption so that they can run it independently from the policy that we have today of centralised service provision.

The Ministry has acquired some assets all over the world. We have some assets in some countries. We desire to have in every country. If you have had an opportunity of going to some of these embassies, for example, Washington, Kenya has an asset. It is a very prime asset. If you go to New York we have an asset and also in Kinshasa.

In Zambia we probably have one of the best assets. In South Africa as a country we have an asset. These assets, just like any other asset you have at home, you must have a budget to take care of renovations and maintenance. So, we urge the Government to have a budget for the same so that they can provide.

The regional development authorities require support. We either make up our mind and let them go to the counties or we get them funded adequately so that they can do the duties they are supposed to be doing. We are already coming up with a Bill as a Committee to align the regional

authorities to the national government so that they can achieve that which they need to achieve. Given the tight fiscal framework, we could not get resources to allocate to the departments. We call upon the National Treasury to allocate money to the departments. We call upon the National Treasury to consider the state department for more resources, should the fiscal space allow, to enable them undertake the non-funded critical activities.

With those many remarks...

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. ole Sankok.

Hon. David ole Sankok (Nominated, JP): Thank you very much, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker for giving me an opportunity to contribute in such an important function of this House, the function of budgeting and resource allocation to various ministries, departments and agencies of the Government, which is our sole mandate here.

There are some issues that I would like to touch. One of them is Access to Government Procurement Opportunities (AGPO), a programme started by my President, His Excellency Uhuru Muigai Kenyatta, with a very good intention to uplift the lives of the vulnerable members of our society. It means access to government procurement opportunities by persons with disabilities, youth and women. This stands at 30 per cent of all contracts that are given out by the Government that should be given to this group. Persons with disability have been marginalised within the marginalised groups. This is because when issuing those contracts to the three groups, they have been able to give 25 per cent because women have the backing of their husbands. Youth are faster than persons with disability and so they end up having 4.5 per cent. What remains for persons with disability is 0.5 per cent.

Hon. (Ms.) Odhiambo Mabona (Suba North, ODM): On a point of order, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. Millie Odhiambo, what is out of order?

Hon. (Ms.) Odhiambo Mabona (Suba North, ODM): Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, I do not know whether the Hon. Member is in order to mislead this House. He has just said that women are advantaged because when they are applying for AGPO they have the backing of their husbands. He is misleading the House by presuming that all the women who are applying for AGPO are married and that their husbands are able. In what we call inter-sectionality, we have women who are disabled who are not married and others who are married with poor husbands. So, is he in order to mislead this House?

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. Millie, you are absolutely right. Every woman or man in this country is equal before the law. Hon. Sankok.

Hon. David ole Sankok (Nominated, JP): Thank you very much, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker. I was rudely interrupted by Hon. Millie, who is a very good contributor in this House and a very intelligent Member of Parliament. I said that majority of women have the backing of their husbands and therefore they take 25 per cent of the chunk that is supposed to be given to the three groups, 4.5 per cent goes to the youth and only 0.5 per cent remains with the persons with disability. Sometimes the tenders that are given to persons with disability are not economically viable like supply of toothpicks, toilet papers and such things that will not economically empower them. Even on top of supplying, there are still pending bills. Some of these well thought out programmes by our President to empower us have become a curse because some persons with disability have committed suicide. This is because they have borrowed from the banks. They have done the contracts that they have been awarded under AGPO but they are not paid and banks are

after them. They are being auctioned and some of them have gone into more poverty than when they applied for these tenders.

The other issue is that of white elephants. That one has come out very clearly. Apart from the Mtihani House that was started in 1986 and is ongoing and we still allocate money to it; apart from other programmes that allocations have been raised from Kshs 18 million, all the way to Kshs 200 million and we have not yet finished paying, we still have a balance of 70 million, there is this issue of Standard Gauge Railway (SGR). The media used to say that the SGR is a rail to nowhere. I did not believe them until I followed Phase 2B of the SGR. It ended up in a remote area called Emurtoto. Emurtoto is one shopping center that has one shop and one butchery. If 'rail to nowhere' does not mean that, I do not know what it means.

What would be the reason for a rail to end in a catchment area that has one butchery that is open only on Wednesdays and one small shop? I believe that for economic viability of any infrastructure, be it a road or a rail, it must start from a bigger town, end in a big town so that there will be transportation between the two catchment areas.

The SGR is only 12 kilometers shy of Narok Town, but for the Suswa Economic Zone, we have already constructed 52 kilometers to Emurtoto. The 52 kilometers is a bare misuse. It is open for vandalism. Construction of 12 kilometers would have given the SGR economic viability by opening up the Great Lake Region, Narok, part of the Northern Tanzania, South and Central Rift. It would be transporting wheat, barley, potatoes, animal byproducts, soapstone and even fish from Kisumu. I do not know why it stalled. I plead with the Government and with my President, if I have wronged you in any way, forgive me. Do not punish Narok residents because of some of us. If MPs from that region have joined Tanga Tanga, please do not punish the two million voters from that region because of some of us. Let us have the SGR completed at least to a town, even if it is not to Kisumu, through Bomet and Kisii as envisioned earlier, let it fall where there is road accessibility. Only motorbikes access where the SGR has ended. No vehicle can reach Emurtoto. It is only a motorcycle or a bicycle.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, I may be very notorious in speaking my mind, but I still plead with the Government in the name of God, do not punish 6.5 million Kenyans with disability because of me. About Kshs250 million has been chopped from the budget of the National Council for Persons with Disability (NCPWD). This is money that goes to wheelchairs.

There are Kenyans with disability crawling on our streets. There is a child with disability soiling their hands as he or she crawls into the dirty pit latrines in our primary schools. He or she will use the same hands to eat food. The self-esteem of that child is lowered and passing exams becomes difficult. Now we are chopping Kshs250 million from persons with disabilities. Around Kshs50 million goes to sunscreen lotion to protect people with albinism from the effect of sunrays. For persons with albinism, sunrays cause cancer. We can no longer protect them because the Government has chopped money from the NCPWD. About Kshs30 million that was chopped was intended for school bursaries for children with disabilities. I want to inform the House that as a person with disability, my only option to succeed in life was education. I could not become a shepherd, or a watchman because they would break my other leg that was a bit stable. I could not also pull a cart. My option was probably to study.

If one is blind, they could become a lawyer because the lawyers use their brains and mouth. If one is physically disabled, they could become doctor or a politician. Nowadays, to be an MP you need a degree. So, these people need degrees so that they can come here. Since they are physically disabled, they have their mouth and their brain just the same way I have used my mouth

without speed governor here in this House. Unfortunately, their money has been chopped. How will they get education?

Lastly, the commercial attachés. In this country we export nothing and import everything. No wonder, our economy is going down year after year. We need to relook at human resource. One brain channelled to proper use is worth more than all the oil wells in Libya. If we channel our brilliant youth into proper use by exporting labour into the Middle East and other countries... We went to Qatar and found out that they have about 35,000 Kenyan immigrants workers working there. We need to export labour so that we can earn foreign exchange and reduce unemployment.

I support this particular Report. Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Very well and passionately spoken, Hon. Sankok. I however, believe that the Budget cannot be proposed with the intention to punish certain sections of the population just because of their association. Freedom of association is protected under Article 36 of our own Constitution and every one of us is allowed and free to associate in whatever form that they may wish. So, we cannot budget with the intention to punish certain sections of a population just because they may be associating with people that for the moment, we may not desire that they associate with. So, the budget is our budget and the constraints ... the reasons why certain budgets may be reduced may be exigencies of the time. I do not believe it is because of associating with persons that may not be desirable in some quarters. It is the way it is.

Hon. Mwakuwona, Hon. Member for Wundanyi.

Hon. Danson Mwashako (Wundanyi, WDM-K). Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker for giving me this chance to first and foremost support the adoption of the Report of the Budget and Appropriation Committee on the Revenue and the Expenditure Estimates for Financial Year 2021/2022. This morning I am a proud member of the Budget and Appropriations Committee. I must congratulate our Chair, Hon. Kanini Kega and all the Members for their sacrifice and commitment for making sure that this Report comes to the House on time.

I want to speak about two or three things. This year's budget is coming at a time when we are faced by a myriad of challenges, one of them being COVID-19. The COVID-19 was unforeseen. The issue of pending bills has been spoken to in this House for quite a while now. I remember about two years ago, our President, His Excellency Hon. Uhuru Kenyatta gave a directive that all pending bills needed to be paid as a first charge by Ministries. This item, pending bills, continues to pile and it appears the National Treasury has not found a way of either enforcing or implementing the presidential directive by making sure that pending bills have been paid.

Let me speak to the Ministry in charge of infrastructure and roads. We were told through a submission of the Committee Chair that we have in excess of Kshs90 billion in pending bills only on roads infrastructure. These pending bills have negated the ability of the Ministry to award new contracts that are extremely essential for the growth and development of this country.

We have leaves that have been advertised, and the projects under the Ministry of Transport and Infrastructure that need to be awarded to contractors, but because of pending bills, the Ministry is taking its time. They have indicated that they would like to reduce the more than Kshs90 billion pending bills to some considerable level before they award new projects. This brings into perspective these pending bills, and it makes some of us to analyse them.

There are areas in this country that are not beneficiaries of the so-called "pending bills", meaning that the Kshs90 billion or so that have gone into implementing some projects have been found in specific areas or specific regions of this country. I will tell you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, we have a region called Taita Taveta County that has no single coin of the Kshs90 billion

under pending bills. We have other counties that have been marginalised in the same area. Therefore, when we cannot start new projects just because we have pending bills, it means that we are continuing to disenfranchise some communities that have not been benefiting through projects.

We have a road that has been advertised just waiting to be awarded. I will give an example. I have a road in my constituency that has been advertised, and the contractor has been identified but the tender cannot be awarded because we are waiting for pending bills to be cleared. I am talking about the Musau-Mbale-Werugha-Bura Road, which is a Kshs2.8 billion project. The reason for the delay in awarding the tender is the pending bills. We would rather increase these pending bills. Let us also be part of the Kenyans who are benefiting from projects. Let us continue adding these pending bills, if we are going to balance and have equity in terms of project implementation.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, I am happy with my Committee that has indicated that by 1st October 2021 the National Treasury should have come up with a long-term bond so that they can settle these pending bills. This should be respected so that by that time, the National Treasury should float a bond that will pay off all pending bills so that then, as a country, we can start afresh. However, we know we have the issue of debt ceiling. They are saying that we cannot do a new bond for infrastructure because this will require us opening up on the Kshs9 trillion ceiling for our national debt.

If opening the debt ceiling will make us get our road awarded quickly; if opening up the debt ceiling will make Kenyans who have been affected by human-wildlife conflict to be paid; if opening up the debt ceiling will make the 70-year old and above get into the safety net; if opening up the debt ceiling will make the tender for projects like Mzima II to be awarded and done, then we are ready and willing to open this ceiling. We cannot live in a country where some areas cannot be developed every time because of reasons of pending bills or national debt ceiling. We must have this conversation as a country. Going forward, the National Treasury must audit all the projects that are done in this country so that we realise equity in project distribution.

Finally, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, I am excited by a policy that has been mentioned by the Chairman of the Departmental Committee on Education on recruitment of teachers. In this year's Budget, we have set aside money to hire teachers. As the Departmental Committee on Budget and Appropriations, we realised that it is important. We would rather reduce some money from the infrastructure that is managed by the Permanent Secretary in Ministry of Education and have this money going into hiring of teachers. We will have twin objectives that will be realised. Number one, we will have most of our teachers getting employed and two, we will have additional income when it comes to Pay-As-You-Earn (PAYE) and, therefore, achieve our income targets.

According to the policy that they are championing, they are saying that 70 per cent of recruitment of teachers must be from the locality of the recruiting entity. So, if we are talking about a county, then 70 per cent of the teachers must come from the local county. Therefore, 30 per cent of teachers should come from outside the county. Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, we have areas where teachers complain that every time recruitment is done, depending on who is in charge of education in that county, 70 per cent of teachers come from outside the county and then 30 per cent from the local community. I can give you an example. We have areas where 90 per cent of all primary school head teachers and their deputies do not come from the local community. This raises a lot of issues. Teachers come to us, as their representatives. They ask us when their children will be employed and yet they have qualifications.

We have some very exciting news in this Budget. I want to thank the Departmental Committee on Education and Research. They brought us a proposal to buy land that is owned by

Taita Taveta Teachers Savings and Credit Co-operative Society (SACCO). It was bought in Kisauni Constituency where my colleague, Hon. Ali Mbogo, comes from. The Budget and Appropriations Committee approved Kshs250 million to settle the people in Kisauni Constituency and pay Taita Taveta Teachers SACCO their money because they bought the land a long time ago. Most of these teachers died. We lost the Chair of Taita Taveta SACCO early this year. These are people who pushed to get their money because their land was used to settle squatters. Today, it is historic that we have put Kshs250 million in this Budget that will be used to settle squatters at Junda Ward in Kisauni Constituency. At the same time, the teachers from my county will get their share, so that they can benefit from their savings.

I finish my contribution by saying that we will support every idea that brings in more money to the State-funded universities. We have universities in this country that do not have enough resources to complete their projects. In the wisdom of my Committee, we allocated Kshs550 million to support Taita Taveta University to finish their mining land project that requires Kshs80 million to be complete. To start with, we have Kshs50 million that will go to the university to make sure that land will be utilised.

I thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): The Chair of the Departmental Committee on Agriculture and Livestock was here but he did not key in. I will allow him to contribute.

Hon. Silas Tiren (Moiben, JP): Thank you very much, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker for giving me the opportunity to say something on the Budget. First, I would like to thank the Chair of the Budget and Appropriations Committee and the Members for the good work that they have done. I also thank my Committee for the support that they gave us when we were making the Budget and looking at the issues that are there.

Let me talk about agriculture. My colleagues have said that we have a lot of challenges that need to be addressed. As everybody knows, agriculture is the backbone of this economy. It is an area that needs to be looked into. Despite the importance of the agriculture sector and its contribution to the Gross Domestic Product (GDP), economic growth, employment, foreign exchange and raw materials for the industrial sector, it is grossly underfunded to the tune of Kshs25.8 billion. Something needs to be done because agriculture is an area that should be looked into.

The sector already has numerous ongoing and stalled projects. Projects take too long to be completed because of low budget allocations and sequent budget cuts. A Member mentioned that we also have a lot of challenges in agriculture because of pending bills. I do not know what we are supposed to do. My colleague has said something. The debt ceiling can be removed to sort out some of these things. Agriculture is an area that we need to look into because of the pending bills. The State department has a lot of pending bills. For example, in the State Department of Livestock, they have a current pending bill of about Kshs4.2 billion. That one goes to Halal Meat Products and Associate Architects Limited who have a pending bill of Ksh25.9 million. In the crop sector, we have a pending bill to the tune of Ksh10 billion. So, I believe that something should be done to address some of these challenges. The crop and cereal sectors have challenges because of that. We are telling the National Treasury that they really need to work on that so that we are able to overcome some of the challenges facing the agricultural sector.

We have some policy recommendations we made in the Committee. The sector already has numerous stalled and ongoing projects as I had said earlier. The National Treasury to provide additional funding to reduce the funding gap in the budget so that the State Department and policies

under the sector and direct drivers in the achievement of the Big Four Agenda in addition to the sector being the mainstay of the economy contributing to approximately 61 per cent directly and 34 per cent indirectly, and 27 per cent to the GDP.

The State Department to improve on the efficiency of utilisation of the development budget allocation while adhering to the relevant laws to ensure the projects are completed within the planned duration and expected returns and service to achieve the soonest.

On the overall expenditure of the project, the programme resulting from budget cuts under the 2021 Supplementary Budget Estimates, the Committee proposes that this is regularised in the proposed 2021 Supplementary Estimates.

I also want to touch a little bit on the additional requests that we were looking at. We believe that the National Treasury allocated Ksh1.5 million for the post COVID-19 economic stimulus programme which was reallocated and we felt that agriculture being an area that grew especially at that very tough moment, ought to deserve that. Agriculture is a sector that needs to be looked into. We are suffering because of pending bills and we need to look into them.

Let me end there. Thank you so much, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Let us hear Hon. Aseka, the Member for Khwisero.

Hon. Christopher Wangaya (Khwisero, ANC): Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker. Let me take this opportunity, first of all, to thank the Budget and Appropriations Committee for a job well done. One of the key aspects of budgeting is the adherence to Article 221 of the Constitution and conduct public participation. They have confirmed that despite the COVID-19 pandemic, they did it virtually and received memoranda from the public.

I draw the attention of the House to two observations. One is the issue of the pending bills which is time the Executive and the National Treasury put their feet down and addressed it. Pending bills slow down the economic growth. They also inhibit performance of ministries. You cannot measure the output in our Government ministries and semi-autonomous Government agencies. So it is an aspect the National Treasury should look into.

I also look at the stalled projects as a challenge and sometimes we wonder why ministries and the Executive initiate new projects without completing the existing ones. A case in point is one in Khwisero Constituency where we have a project of the sub-county education office and director's office which was to be done in 2015 but up to now the project is at the lintel. It has not been factored in any budget and this is an eyesore to the Government and even the ministry. To attain this, I advise the ministry and the National Treasury to come up and do monitor projects implementation. By so doing, they will know the projects that are on course and those outside the contractual period and make adjustments when they do the Budget.

Lastly, in supporting the budget, the Government should also look at other alternative ways of supporting these projects. As the Chairperson of the Departmental Committee on Finance and National Planning said, we should look at implementation of the Public Private Partnership (PPP) in many of these projects, and the Government should purchase or buy to reduce some cost.

With that, I support the Report. Thank you.

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. Obo Mohamed, Member for Lamu.

Hon. (Ms.) Ruweida Obo (Lamu CWR, JP): Asante sana, Mhe. Naibu Spika wa Muda, kwa kunipatia nafasi ili nizungumzie haya Makadirio ya Bajeti. Mwanzo, napongeza Kamati ya Bajeti na Uidhinishaji wa Matumizi.

Katika hiki kitengo cha kwanza cha *Executive Office of the President*, wanafaa kupewa pesa zaidi na hata hicho kipeo chao kinafaa kuongezwa juu zaidi kwa sababu kinafanya kazi nyingi nzuri.

Katika *State Department of Interior and Citizen Services*, kipeo chao kikipelekwa juu zaidi itakuwa vizuri kwa sababu bado tunatarajia kazi iwe nzuri zaidi. Hii ni kwa sababu kuna sehemu zingine kama kule kwetu, Kaunti ya Lamu, bado kuna watu hawajapata vitambulisho kwa miaka mitatu sasa. Wanazo stakabadhi zile za kungojea vitambulisho. Kama hiyo pesa ni kidogo, kazi haifanyiki vizuri. Kwa hivyo, hata wakiongezewa siyo vibaya. Bora kazi ifanyike.

Sisi watu wa Lamu pia ni Wakenya kama Wakenya wengine. Kwa hivyo, ule muda ambao unamchukua mtu wa Nairobi kupata kitambulisho ndio unafaa achukuwe mtu wa Lamu kupata kitambulisho.

Ningependa pia kuzungumzia Wizara ya Ulinzi. Kusema kweli, sisi kule Lamu ndio tunaona kazi yao kwa vile tuko katika mpaka. Wanafanya kazi nzuri na huwa tunawatarajia kutupitisha katika sehemu zingine ambazo hatuwezi pita pekee yetu. Kwa hivyo, kama kuna pesa zinatakikana, wapewe hata zaidi. Kazi yao ni nzuri na tunawapongeza sana.

Ningependa kuzungumzia kuhusu maji. Maji ni uhai. Hii Wizara ya Maji, Usafi na Umwagiliaji hata wakiomba pesa nyingi wanafaa wapewe. Kipeo chao kinafaa kuenda juu ili wapate kuomba hata nyingi zaidi kwa sababu bado kuna sehemu zingine hapa Kenya ambazo watu bado wako na matatizo ya maji. Tunajua maji ni muhimu kwa binadamu.

Huko Lamu kuna mipango ambayo imekua kwenye vitabu zaidi ya miaka kumi ya kuvuta maji kutoka Mto Tana mpaka Lamu. Kwa hivyo, wanatarajia kuwa katika mipango hiyo. Hizi pesa wameomba zitashughulikia maslahi ya Lamu kwa sababu ilikuwa katika mipango. Wakiweza kuleta maji Lamu basi tutakuwa tumetatua matatizo ambayo tuko nayo huko.

Tatizo letu kubwa zaidi hivi sasa ni ukosefu wa maji. Bandari iko na wageni watakuja wengi lakini tuko na shida ya maji. Wageni wakija wengi zaidi, hatutakuwa na maji. Hata hivyo, naona Rais alizungumzia jambo hilo alipokuwa Lamu. Waziri pia alizungumza na tumeona katika magazeti. Rais alituambia kwamba wataangalia vile watasaidia upande wa maji ili tuweze kijipanga na ile Bandari ya Lamu.

Nataka kuzungumza kuhusu afya. Hizi pesa zilizopangwa kwa afya, wenzangu watakubaliana nami kuwa zinafaa kupangwa zaidi kwa sababu afya ndiyo kila kitu. Tukizingatia afya hapa Kenya, basi tutakuwa tumebadilisha maisha ya binadamu kwa sababu afya inaingilia pande nyingi. Sikuwa naelewa ni vipi Wizara ya Afya na Wizara ya Uchukuzi, Miundombinu, Makazi, Maendeleo ya Mijini na Ujenzi wa Miradi ya Umma zinaweza kuingiliana lakini baada ya kupelekwa kusoma, tumeona afya iko kila upande. Hata Bungeni afya iko.

Ukienda kwa usafirishaji, afya iko. Afya iko kila mahali! Kwa hivyo tukizingatia afya, tutakuwa tumetatua shida za Wakenya. Kwa hiyo, sekta ya afya inafaa iangaliwe vizuri na ipewe pesa nzuri lakini pia wale ambao wanashika hizo pesa wanafaa kuzitumia inavyotakikana ili tusije tukaharibiana majina.

Naibu Spika wa Muda, ninasikitishwa kidogo pia na Wizara ya Kilimo upande wa *blue economy*. Haina pesa mingi. Wizara hii inafaa kujijenga kama vile kuwa na maofisi. *Blue economy* ikiangaliwa vizuri tunaweza kuandika vijana wengi kazi.

Lamu, kwa mfano, itaajiri watu wengi. Ninaona pesa kidogo imewekwa na kisha tunasema tunataka kukuza *blue economy*. Hiyo pesa kidogo pia hatuioni. Nilitarajia iwekwe pesa nyingi ili tuone viwanda vya samaki vikiekeza. Kwa kufanya hivyo, ndio kukuza *blue economy* sio tu kwa kutafiti kila siku na hatuoni mambo yakiendelea. Nilitarajia kuwa Kamati Kuu ya

Kilimo ingeweka hapa ceiling kubwa na kuzungumzia mambo mengi ambayo yanataka kufanya upande. Tungeandika vijana wengi sana, na bado tuko na uwezo.

Tuko na Kaunti tano za Pwani na pia kule upande wa Ziwa Victoria na Ziwa Naivasha. Tunaweza jipanga vizuri na *blue economy* na ikatuondolezea shida kubwa ya ukosefu wa kazi.

Ningependa kuwapa wenzangu nafasi na kwa sababu ninaona masaa yameenda. Asante.

Naibu Spika wa Muda (Mhe. Christopher Omulele): Ningependa kumpea nafasi Mhe. Mboni, Mjumbe wa Kitui Katikati.

Hon. David Mboni (Kitui Rural, CCU): Thank you, Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker for giving me this opportunity to also contribute. I would also like to thank the Committee for a work well done.

Despite the challenges due to Covid-19, the 2021/2022 Budget is the biggest in the history of this country at Kshs3.66 trillion. At the same time, it has the biggest deficit of Kshs900 billion. The total revenue projected is Kshs2 trillion and the other revenue basically from taxes is Kshs1.776.

These revenue projections are based on economic recovery and stable micro-economic environment. The GDP is projected to grow at 6.3 percent and is supported by stable economic environment, domestic and external demands. However, I have a problem with this projection. Historically, the growth of Kenya after experiencing low economic growth... There is no way the economy can grow at 6.3 per cent.

In the Year 2000, the economy grew by 0.6 per cent. The Year 2001, the country grew by 3.8 percent. The Year 2008, the economy grew by 0.2 per cent. In 2009, it grew by 3.3 per cent. Last year, the economy grew by negative 0.4 percent. This year, there is no way this economy can grow by 6.3 percent. If these assumptions are not going to be achieved at 6.3 percent, improved domestic and external demand, we are likely to have a huge revenue shortfall and budget deficit; more borrowing and high public debt. We have to be very careful. I have been telling the National Treasury that they have to be very careful when it comes to projections. It is high time we funded planning activities in this country.

I think it is because they are using their thoughts to project the figures, and they are not good for this country. We should note that the tax revenue, as a percentage of GDP, has been very low since 2013. It declined from 25 per cent then to 17 per cent currently. The recommended percentage is 20 per cent. That way, the country can fund all these activities. We need to note that there are only three sectors which contribute to 52 per cent of tax revenue. These are manufacturing, Information Communication Technology (ICT), and banking and insurance sectors. The Government should come up with tax policies and measures to raise tax revenues from other sectors. Otherwise, these sectors are over taxed. In fact, currently there is a lot of smuggling of beer and cigarettes into this country. This is because taxes on beer and cigarettes have really gone up and, therefore, people are taking beer and cigarettes from other countries whose tax regimes are lower. Continuing to tax these industries may force some companies to relocate to where the tax regimes are favourable. If they relocate, we will lose jobs, household incomes, and revenues. If these companies relocate we will not collect Pay-As-You-Earn (PAYE). We are going to miss corporate tax and therefore our GDP is also going to go down and we will have more problems. We have seen Kenya Revenue Authority (KRA) struggling to raise revenue.

Moreover, these problems are because of low funding by the Government. The KRA should be funded. In fact, they are telling us that if you give them one shilling they are going to raise Kshs100. The KRA needs to be funded to buy scanners for use at the border posts, modernise

their ICT services and recruit more staff and train them so that they can collect revenue more efficiently. The country should go for concessionary loans, which are cheaper and have a long repayment period so that we do not strain the Exchequer. The country should also move quickly to embrace PPP projects. This concept was introduced in the country 10 years ago but since then we have had only two PPP projects. The current one, which is on-going, is the Expressway along Mombasa Road. We need more of these projects so that at least we can reduce pressure on the Exchequer.

I like the observations and recommendations made by the Committee, one of them being on the pending Bills which currently stand at Kshs90 billion. These pending Bills are crippling businesses. They are causing havoc to business people. Moreover, many businesses have gone under because of pending bills. The Committee recommends the setting up of a Fund to settle existing verified pending bills and court awards. I think this is a very good recommendation if it means taking concessional loans to pay these debts. I think that would be the way to go. The second recommendation of the Committee is that stalled projects should be completed before any Government Ministry, Department and Agency (MDAs) start new ones. If we have a project which we have started and it is not benefiting this country, it is a loss.

In addition, we are undertaking most of these projects through loans. We service a loan when the country is not benefiting from the project. To me this is a very important recommendation. Another recommendation is on duplication of functions. This is a song we have been singing all through. You find a Government Department doing the same thing that is being done by another Department. Moreover, there are staff and financial commitments to those Departments. Therefore, rationalisation and streamlining of functions to eliminate duplication should be undertaken. In addition, this country should be able to save many resources.

Hon. Temporary Deputy Speaker, this is a terrible thing because SDGs are very instrumental in poverty reduction and sustainable economic growth. The National Treasury should come up with plans on how they will fund these projects so that, at least, we reduce poverty which is at very high levels currently.

With those few remarks, I support.

ADJOURNMENT

The Temporary Deputy Speaker (Hon. Christopher Omulele): Hon. Members, the time being 1:00 p.m., this House stands adjourned until today Wednesday, 9th June 2021 at 2:30 p.m.

The House rose at 1: 00 p.m.